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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of
Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made
all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief, the information contained in this report
is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited (the
"Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”),
| am pleased to present the annual report of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year").

The business of the Group primarily involves the wholesale and
retail of a wide spectrum of wine products and other alcoholic
beverages in Hong Kong. The Group has a comprehensive
product portfolio consisting of (i) wine products such as
premium collectible red wine, i.e. red wine with selling prices
at HK$1,000 or above per bottle, fine red wine and white
wine; (i) other alcoholic beverages such as champagne, whisky,
baijiu and sake; and (iii) wine accessory products such as wine
decanters, wine glasses and wine openers, for customers’
selection. The Group also develops alcoholic beverages under
its self-owned brands.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue of the Group increased by approximately 46.6%
from approximately HK$147.7 million for the year ended
31 March 2023 to approximately HK$216.6 million for the
Year. Profit for the Year amounted to approximately HK$31.2
million (2023: approximately HK$16.3 million), representing
an increase of approximately 90.7% from the year ended 31
March 2023. Profit for the Year attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to approximately HK$31.2 million (2023:
approximately HK$16.6 million). The increase in revenue was
mainly due to the improvement of demand in wine products
while the increase in profit was mainly caused by (i) the
increase in revenue; (ii) the decrease in selling and distribution
expenses, as well as administrative expenses, as a result of the
continuous implementation of cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement measures during the Year; and (iii) the increase
in finance costs due to the increase in interest on interest-
bearing bank borrowings, the effect of which was partially
offset.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREE

PROSPECTS

The Group is well-positioned for future growth and
sustainability. It is refining and expanding its operations with
a focus on diversifying and creating new sales channels, as
well as enhancing operational efficiency through optimised
processes. Alongside its core wine trading activities, the
Group is actively exploring additional business opportunities,
such as selling other liquor products and providing related
promotion and marketing services. Looking ahead, the Group
remains steadfastly committed to expanding its customer
base and supply channels, diversifying its business, and
seizing opportunities in existing and emerging markets. This
will be achieved through ongoing development of its wine
and alcoholic beverage operations, as well as exploration of
profitable new ventures. Underpinning these initiatives is the
Group’s aim to strengthen its leading position in Hong Kong’s
wine industry and drive further market expansion globally.

NOTE OF APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to all of the business partners, customers, suppliers
and the shareholders for their continuous support. | would
also like to express my sincere appreciation to the Group’s
management and staff for their commitment and dedication.

Wong Chi Lou Shirley
Chairman
Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business of the Group primarily involves the wholesale and
retail of a wide spectrum of wine products and other alcoholic
beverages in Hong Kong. The Group has a comprehensive
product portfolio consisting of (i) wine products such as
premium collectible red wine, i.e. red wine with selling prices
at HK$1,000 or above per bottle, fine red wine and white
wine; (i) other alcoholic beverages such as champagne, whisky,
baijiu and sake; and (iii) wine accessory products such as wine
decanters, wine glasses and wine openers, for customers’
selection. The Group also develops alcoholic beverages under
its self-owned brands.

During the Year, the Group found improvement in operating
its wine business under moderating external challenges from
(i) the global economic downturn; and (ii) the tightening
monetary policy executed worldwide (altogether, the “External
Challenges”). There is an improvement in the demand of
premium collectible wine and fine wine segments compared
to previous years, which resulted an increment in the Group's
revenue and maintain a steady gross profit. Meanwhile, the
Group is actively exploring other business opportunities during
the Year, which include provision of promotion and marketing
services for liquor brands and products, in addition to altering
product segments with good potential and development of
products under self-owned brands, as well as optimising the
cost efficiency from business operation. The Board believes
that the Group can seize the opportunity arising from the
different trends in the liquor industry in the long term.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue of the Group increased by approximately 46.6%
from approximately HK$147.7 million for the year ended 31
March 2023 to approximately HK$216.6 million for the Year.
The increase was due to the improvement of demand in wine
products despite the External Challenges.

Cost of sales

The Group's cost of sales consists of the procurement of wine
products and other alcoholic beverages from the suppliers.
The Group recognises cost of sales upon the conclusion of a
sales transaction. The cost of sales increased by approximately
58.9% from approximately HK$88.0 million for the year ended
31 March 2023 to approximately HK$139.8 million for the
Year. The increase in cost of sales was directly correlated with
the increase in revenue for the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBFIWRE S

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit represents revenue less cost of sales. The gross
profit of the Group increased by approximately 28.5% from
approximately HK$59.7 million for the year ended 31 March
2023 to approximately HK$76.8 million for the Year. The
overall gross profit margin amounted to approximately 40.4%
and approximately 35.4% for the year ended 31 March 2023
and the Year, respectively.

The Group recorded a relatively lower gross profit margin
during the Year mainly due to the change in product mix with
an increased proportion from sales of premium collectible
wine and fine wine, and a decreased proportion from sales of
certain self-owned brands of other alcoholic beverages during
the Year.

Other income

Other income of the Group consisted primarily of (i) bank
interest generated from the bank balances and (ii) sundry
income. Other income decreased from approximately
HK$915,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$127,000 for the Year, which was mainly
contributed by (i) decrease in sundry income and (ii) the absent
of the anti-epidemic subsidies granted by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region during the Year.

Other gains and losses, net

The Group recorded net losses of approximately HK$956,000
and net gains of approximately HK$34,000 for the Year and
for the year ended 31 March 2023, respectively.

The net gains or losses consisted of (i) gain or loss on disposal
of property and equipment; (i) loss on lease termination; (iii)
write-off of property and equipment; and (iv) net exchange
gains or losses arising from the foreign currency fluctuations
in respect of the foreign currency denominated trust receipt
loans for the settlement of wine product purchased from the
overseas suppliers.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group decreased from
approximately HK$12.4 million for the year ended 31 March
2023 to approximately HK$10.9 million for the Year. It was a
result of the continuous implementation of cost reduction and
efficiency enhancement measures during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group decreased from
approximately HK$21.7 million for the year ended 31
March 2023 to approximately HK$16.4 million for the Year.
This decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in
depreciation and the continuous implementation of cost
reduction and efficiency enhancement measures during the
Year.

Finance costs

Finance costs increased from approximately HK$5.8 million
for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$9.3
million for the Year. This increase was primarily attributable to
the increase in the interest on bank borrowings for the Year as
compared to last year.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense of the Group increased by approximately
62.8% from approximately HK$5.0 million for the year ended
31 March 2023 to approximately HK$8.2 million for the
Year. The increase was mainly attributable to the increase in
estimated assessable profit for the Year compared against the
year ended 31 March 2023.

Profit for the Year, profit for the Year attributable
to owners of the Company and total comprehensive
income for the Year attributable to owners of the
Company

Profit for the Year amounted to approximately HK$31.2
million (2023: approximately HK$16.3 million). Profit for
the Year attributable to owners of the Company and total
comprehensive income for the Year attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$31.2 million
(2023: approximately HK$16.6 million) and approximately
HK$31.2 million (2023: approximately HK$16.6 million),
respectively.

The increase in profit for the Year, profit for the Year
attributable to owners of the Company and total
comprehensive income for the Year attributable to owners of
the Company was mainly due to (i) the increase in revenue of
the Group; (i) the decrease in selling and distribution expenses
and administrative expenses of the Group as a result of the
continuous implementation of cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement measures during the Year; and (iii) partially
offset by the increase in finance costs for interest-bearing bank
borrowings of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBFIWRE S

Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)”) for the Year (2023: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Year, the Group’'s operation and capital
requirements were financed principally through a combination
of cash flow generated from the operating activities and bank
borrowings. As at 31 March 2023 and 2024, the Group had
net current assets of approximately HK$110.3 million and
approximately HK$145.4 million, respectively, including cash
and cash equivalents of approximately HK$2.8 million and
approximately HK$2.9 million respectively. The Group’s current
ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) increased
from approximately 1.7 as at 31 March 2023 to approximately
1.9 as at 31 March 2024 mainly due to the combined effect
of the increase in inventories, the increase in trade receivables
and the decrease in bank borrowings and bank overdrafts.

Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total borrowings
(including bank borrowings and bank overdrafts and lease
liabilities) by total equity as at the end of the Year. The Group’s
gearing ratio were approximately 54.9% and approximately
45.6% as at 31 March 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Details of bank borrowings and bank overdrafts of the Group
are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts prudent treasury policies. The Group’s
management performs an ongoing credit evaluation of the
financial conditions of the customers in order to reduce the
Group's exposure of credit risk. In addition to these ongoing
credit evaluations, the Board closely monitors the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of
the Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its
funding requirements.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the Group did not
have any capital commitment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no changes in the capital structure of the
Group during the Year. The share capital of the Company
only comprises of ordinary shares. As at 31 March 2024, the
Company had 400,000,000 shares in issue.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 March 2024, there were no significant investments
held by the Group.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES OR JOINT
VENTURES

As at 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this report, the
Group did not have any material acquisition or disposals of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as those disclosed in (i) the prospectus of the Company
dated 29 December 2017 (the “Prospectus”); (ii) the annual
reports of the Company for the years ended 31 March
2019, 2020, 2021, 2022 and 2023; (iii) the supplemental
announcement of the Company dated 14 August 2020; and
(iv) the announcement of the Company dated 10 June 2022
in relation to the use of proceeds, the Group currently has no
other plan for material investments and capital assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2024 and 2023.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is subject to relatively larger exposure to foreign
currency risk as the Group has foreign currency denominated
trust receipt loans for the settlement of the wine product
purchases from suppliers outside of Hong Kong. The Group’s
exposure to foreign currency risk may affect its results of
operations and financial position.

The Group recognises the importance of managing the foreign
currency exchange risk exposure. To this end, the Group has
ceased holding any pledged bank deposits in foreign currencies
since October 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBFIWRE S

The finance and accounts team of the Group is in charge
of implementing the internal control measures on foreign
currency risk. This team monitors the exposure to foreign
currency risk with reference to, among other things, (i) the
monthly and annual cash flow forecasts; (ii) historical cash
flows; (iii) actual receivables; (iv) sales orders; (v) payables; (vi)
purchase orders; and (vii) the potential hedging plans.

In respect of the purchases denominated in foreign currencies,
the Group manages the associated foreign currency exchange
risk exposure by closely monitoring the movement of foreign
currency exchange rates and performing regular reviews of
the net foreign exchange exposure. The Group has established
a tracking and reporting system which records the latest
exchange rate fluctuation information to enable the Group to
effectively monitor the exposure to exchange rate risks and
adjust the procurement strategy accordingly. For example, if
there is an appreciation in Euro, the Group may choose to
procure French red wine products from suppliers in the United
Kingdom or Switzerland instead of France to minimise the
foreign currency risk exposure. The Group does not currently
have a foreign currency hedging policy. In the event of any
change in circumstances leading the Group to believe that
the exposure to foreign currency risk has heightened, the
Group will, upon approval by the Board, implement necessary
measures and policies to manage such risk, for example by
entering into foreign currency hedging transactions.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The total number of employees were 30 and 24 as at 31
March 2023 and 2024, respectively. The Group's standard
remuneration package includes base salary, discretionary
bonus, medical insurance and contributions to retirement
schemes. For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024, the
Group's total employee benefit expenses (including Directors’
emoluments) amounted to approximately HK$12.2 million and
approximately HK$10.4 million, respectively.

Remuneration package is determined in light of the
employees’ qualification, position and seniority. To ensure
the remuneration package remains competitive, the Group
conducts annual assessment on each employee’s remuneration
package.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and that the risks of non-compliance
with such requirements. To the best of the Directors’
knowledge, information and belief, and having made all
reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied with all relevant
laws and regulations in Hong Kong in all material respects
during the Year.

The Group also complies with the requirements under the
GEM Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO") for the
disclosure of information and corporate governance.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the
environment from its business activities. The Group continually
seeks to identify and manage environmental impacts
attributable to its operational activities in order to minimise
these impacts if possible.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises employees as one of the valuable assets
of the Group and the Group strictly complies with the labour
laws and regulations in Hong Kong and regularly reviews the
existing staff benefits for improvement.

The Group provides good quality services to the customers and
maintains a good relationship with them. The Group is able
to establish trusting and long-standing business relationships
with the major customers.

The Group also maintains effective communication and
develops long-term and stable relationships with the suppliers.
During the Year, there was no material dispute or disagreement
between the Group and its customers or its suppliers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBFIWRE S

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) were successfully
listed on GEM on 12 January 2018 (the “Listing Date"”). The
Board considers that such public listing status on the Stock
Exchange is beneficial to the Company and the shareholders
as a whole as the listing status on the Stock Exchange is a
complementary way of advertising the Group which reinforces
the corporate profile and market recognition. In addition,
the creditworthiness will be enhanced from the suppliers’
perspective, which may in turn allow the Group to have
greater bargaining power over negotiations to bargain for
longer trade and credit terms. It also enables the Group to gain
direct access to the capital market to raise funds for future
expansion.

The Group has made steady progress in refining and expanding
its operations, with a focus on diversifying and creating
new sales channels. Alongside its traditional wine trading
activities, the Group is actively exploring additional business
opportunities, including selling other liquor products and
providing promotion and marketing services for liquor brands
as new product segments. Additionally, the Group is optimising
operational cost efficiency. The Group believes these initiatives
will optimise its business portfolio and support sustainable,
healthy long-term performance.

The Group closely monitors the development of its business
and will adopt a prudent approach, adjusting its strategies
as necessary, to navigate the challenges and uncertainties
presented by the rapidly changing environment.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Wong Chi Lou Shirley (EZ¥Z <L) (“Ms. Shirley
Wong"), aged 43, was appointed as executive Director and
chief executive officer of the Company on 22 September
2016, and was appointed as chairman of the Board (the
“Chairman”) and chairman of the Company’s nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) on 14 September
2023. She is one of the founding members of the Group since
its establishment in March 2008. Ms. Shirley Wong is also
a controlling shareholder of the Company and a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Shirley Wong is primarily
responsible for the overall management, strategic development
and major business decision-making of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Shirley Wong worked for
ABN-AMRO Bank N.V., Hong Kong, as a consumer banking
management trainee in 2005 where she was primarily
responsible for daily operation in the consumer banking
department. Ms. Shirley Wong has been a director as well
as one of the shareholders of Dynasty International Group
Holdings Limited, a company engaging in trading of premium
gifts, since 2006 where she was primarily responsible for
operation, management and strategic planning of the
business.

Ms. Shirley Wong obtained her bachelor’s degree of science
in economics in June 2003 and her master’s degree of science
in economics and econometrics in January 2005 from the
University of Bristol in the United Kingdom. Ms. Shirley Wong
is the daughter of Ms. Yeung Chi Hung, the non-executive
Director.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFSRSREEERE

Mr. Chan Sze Tung (BREFH#E%4%), aged 36, joined the
Group in June 2012 as sales and marketing assistant where
he was primarily responsible for advising customers on
products selection and performing daily administrative tasks
of the sales and marketing department. He was transferred
to the operations department in April 2013 as an operation
officer and was primarily responsible for managing the
Group's logistics and warehousing and providing support
to operational issues and compiling records and reports
for various departments. He was promoted as an assistant
operation manager in April 2014 and further promoted as
the operation manager in April 2015 where he was primarily
responsible for operations management and strategic planning
and development of the Group’s business. He was further
promoted as a vice president of operations and administration
of the Group in April 2016. He was appointed as executive
Director and compliance officer of the Company pursuant
to Rule 5.19 of the GEM Listing Rules on 3 January 2017.
Mr. Chan has taken a role as a vice president of Project
Development of the Group since April 2018 and is primarily
responsible for overseeing various projects aimed for future
development of the Group. He was appointed as the chief
operating officer with effect from 1 December 2021. He is also
a director of a subsidiary of the Group.

Mr. Chan obtained his bachelor of arts degree in marketing
and public relations from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in October 2011. Mr. Chan also obtained an executive
diploma in negotiation from the Institute of Crisis and Risk
Management in December 2016 where he was awarded as a
certified strategic negotiator. In September 2020, Mr. Chan
obtained a master’s degree of Business Administration from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Furthermore, he has
been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors since
January 2022.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Yeung Chi Hung ((BB&AL&Z T), sBs, BBS, 1P, aged 73,
was appointed as non-executive Director of the Company on 3
January 2017. She is primarily responsible for advising on the
strategy, performance and resources of the Group. She also
acts as a member of the Company’s remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”). Ms. Yeung ceased to be
the Chairman and the chairman of the Nomination Committee
with effect from 14 September 2023.

Ms. Yeung founded Dynasty International Group Holdings
Limited, a company engaging in trading of premium gifts, in
November 2006 where she has been the director and general
manager since then and has been primarily responsible for
overseeing the corporate governance and internal control
of such company. She has been the director of Manikind
International Limited, a company engaging in investment
holding and provision of motor vehicle licences, since May
2005 where she is responsible for making major business
decisions and overall business strategies. Ms. Yeung is also
the director and chairman of Kai Yeung Jewellery Limited, a
company engaging in jewellery trading, being responsible for
making major business decision-making and overall business
strategies development since April 1993.

Ms. Yeung obtained a diploma in telecommunications from the
South China University of Technology in the PRC in 1975.

Ms. Yeung is an active participant in public and social services
and the table below sets forth her major engagements:
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFASREEREE

Position

B

Associations/Organisations

e A8

Service period

AR 3% 5 545

Representative

&

Executive Committee
Member

xR

Chairman
xS

Director
414 B

Vice Chairman &

Secretary General
BlFERMER

Life Honorary President

KEBEER
President

gk

Chairman

53

President
gr

All-China Women's Federation Association
FEEGBLBES

Fraternity Association of HK Henan
BB mBHES

Hong Kong New Youth Energy Think Tank
EEMENEFERE

Guangdong Community Organisations

R

Hong Kong Girl Guides, Wong Tai Sin District

BRXEFTEANIDE

Ms. Yeung is the mother of Ms. Shirley Wong.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Cham Man Simon (FREX % 4), aged 52, was
appointed as independent non-executive Director of the
Company on 1 December 2021. He is a member of each of the
Company’s audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) and the
Nomination Committee.

Mr. Simon Chan holds a bachelor’s degree in Science (Business
Administration) from University of Southern California. He
has been a director of each of Vimchamp Garments Limited,
a company primarily engaging in the garments and fashion
industry and Vimchamp Holdings Limited, a company primarily
engaging in the investments and development industry since
1994 and 2008 respectively, where he is responsible for the
business developments and sales operations.

Mr. Simon Chan had been a director of Circus 212 Limited
during the period from 2013 to 2016 and DOS Dental
Limited during the period from 2015 to 2018, where he was
responsible for their business developments and marketing
operations.

Mr. Simon Chan is currently a member of the HKSAR
Administration Appeals Board and the HKSAR Non-local Higher
and Professional Education Appeal Board, and the chairman
of Yan Chai Hospital CIS Primary School (Management Board).
He was a director of the Hong Kong Racehorse Owners
Association Charitable Foundation up to November 2023. He
was a member of each of the HKSAR Home Affairs Department
(ESR Programme Advisory Board), the HKSAR Home Affairs
Bureau Appeal Board (Amusement Game Centres), the HKSAR
Commerce and Economic Department (Textile Advisory
Board), Lingnan University Advisory Board (Office of Service
Learning), the chairman of Education Development Foundation
Association and a member of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (Zhuhai) during the period from 2008
to 2016. He was appointed by the Transport Department of
the Government of the HKSAR as a board member of Contract
Hire Car Permits Selection Board with effect from 1 October
2023.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFSRSREEERE

Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie v+, Jr (BR 8 3 2z £, aged 55,
was appointed as independent non-executive Director of the
Company on 13 June 2019. She is a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Ms.
Chan obtained her Bachelor degree in Laws and Postgraduate
Certificate in Laws from the University of Hong Kong in 1991
and 1992 respectively. She is the founder and managing
partner of CMK lawyers, a law firm in Hong Kong, and has
over 29 years of experience in providing legal advices and
services as a solicitor in Hong Kong.

Ms. Chan is an independent non-executive director of each
of China State Construction Development Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 830); Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
392) and Nine Dragons Paper (Holdings) Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
2689).

Ms. Chan is an accredited mediator and a China-appointed
attesting officer in Hong Kong. She is also the founding
president of The Small and Medium Law Firms Association
of Hong Kong. Furthermore, Ms. Chan is a Specially Invited
Mediator of Guangdong Court for Cross-border Commercial
Dispute Resolution in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area, a Mediator of Shenzhen Qianhai
International Commercial Mediation Centre and an Arbitrator
of China Guangzhou Arbitration Commission, Shenzhen Court
of International Arbitration, Qingdao Arbitration Commission
and South China International Arbitration Centre (Hong Kong).

Ms. Chan has also undertaken various community positions
in Hong Kong including being a member of Ex-office member
of Election Committee and Chairman of Appeal Tribunal
Panel (Building Ordinance). Ms. Chan was awarded the Medal
of Honor in 2012 and Justice of the Peace in 2015 by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
She was also conferred with Honorary Fellow by City University
of Hong Kong in 2013. Ms. Chan was elected as a Hong Kong
Deputy to the National People’s Congress of the PRC (the 13th
session and the 14th session) in 2017 and 2022 respectively,
an executive member of the All-China Women's Federation
Executive Committee in 2018 and a president of All-China
Women's Federation Hong Kong Delegates Association Ltd. in
2021 and a Legislative Council member of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region in 2022.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Liu Kin Wai (BIf2R &%), age 42, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company on
1 March 2023. He is the chairman of the Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee, and a member of the
Nomination Committee. Mr. Liu received his bachelor’s degree
in Accounting from City University of Hong Kong in 2003
and completed China Environmental Industry Senior Manager
Training Programme (P EIREE ¥ = REE AFEH)
organised by Tsinghua University (52 X2£) in 2016.

Mr. Liu has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since 2008 and has more than 20
years of experience in assurance services and financial, capital
management and company secretarial works. From 2004 to
2015, he worked in an international assurance firm with last
position as a senior manager. From May 2015 to September
2016, he had served as a senior manager of Beijing Enterprises
Water Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 371). From September 2016
to September 2019, he had served as the chief financial officer
and the company secretary of Shandong Hi-Speed New Energy
Group Limited (formerly known as Beijing Enterprises Clean
Energy Group Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1250). From December 2019
to August 2023, he had served as the chief financial officer
and the company secretary of Orient Victory Smart Urban
Services Holding Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 265).

Mr. Liu is currently the chief financial officer of Fortune Oil
Limited and an independent non-executive director of Bright
Future Technology Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1351).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Leung Tak Wai (R E & % %), aged 42, join the Group
in July 2021 as senior vice president of business development.
Mr. Leung is primarily responsible for business strategies and
overseeing sales and marketing activities of the Group.

Mr. Leung worked for Watsons’ Wine as Trading (Buying)
Manager from March 2010 to June 2021. He was primarily
responsible for sourcing and promoting the premium fine wine
through retail shops and wholesale to hotels, restaurants,
e-commerce platforms, etc. Before joining Watsons’ Wine,
Mr. Leung had worked in Citysuper, Hong Kong as wine
merchandiser from May 2009 to March 2010.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFSRSREEERE

Mr. Leung obtained a diploma in Business Studies and
Information Technology and completed the first year of
a B.A. Degree Business Management in Dublin Business
School in Ireland. He obtained an International Commerce
Management — Assistant Export Certificate from Institute
Formation Commerciale in Paris in 2006. Mr. Leung obtained
a postgraduate diploma in fashion and luxury brand
management from HKU Space in 2015 and a MSc in Marketing
in 2017 from HKU Space - Edinburgh Napier University.

Mr. Ng Man Wai (R3Xf&%4%), age 33, joined the Company
in 2023 and is currently the financial controller of the
Company and was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”) on 20 February 2024. He
is primarily responsible for overseeing the corporate finance
and account, and overall compliance matters of the Group.

Mr. Ng has over 10 years’ accounting and auditing experience
and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He obtained a Bachelor of Business
Administration (Honours) degree with a major in Accountancy
and a minor in Financial Services from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2012. From 2012 to 2023, he had
worked in a Big 4 international accounting firm with last
position as an assurance senior manager.

Mr. Ng also is a Certified Environmental, Social and
Governance Analyst (CESGA®) awarded by the European
Federation of Financial Analysts Societies (EFFAS) and possesses
Wine & Spirit Education Trust (“WSET") awards level one in
wines.

Ms. Pin Lam (¥ % X), aged 43, joined the Group in January
2008 as accounting officer and is now the executive assistant
to the chief executive officer of the Group. Ms. Pin is primarily
responsible for assisting the chief executive officer in overall
management, strategic development and major business
decision-making of the Group.

Ms. Pin obtained her bachelor’s degree of arts in accounting
from the Edinburgh Napier University in January 2013.
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The Company’s corporate governance code is based on the
principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code") as set out in Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company is committed to maintain high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard interest of shareholders
and ensure a quality board and transparency and accountability
to shareholders.

Save for the deviation from code provisions C.2.1 and F.2.2 of
the CG Code while such deviation is explained in the relevant
paragraphs below of this corporate governance report, the
Company complied with all code provisions in the CG Code
during the Year.

OUR VISION

o We will continue to expand a sustainable global trade
of wine and spirits distribution with representatives who
understand the needs of the wine market and share their
passion for wine.

o We will enhance our partnership and chemistry with
other industry partners, leading to opportunities for
collaboration.

o Our network of distribution aims to plant the circle
relationship in The Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area in next few years.

o Our distribution activities commit to operate under low
carbon footprint standard, moving to automatisation.

o Our group envisions to diversify and expand our business
in the next decade.
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EREIWE

THE BOARD

The Board has reserved for its decision and consideration
issues in relation to (i) formulating the strategic objectives of
the Group; (i) considering and deciding the Group's significant
operational and financial matters, including but not limited
to substantial mergers and acquisitions and disposals; (iii)
overseeing the Group's corporate governance practices; (iv)
ensuring a risk management control system in place; (v)
directing and monitoring senior management in pursuit of
the Group’s strategic objectives; and (vi) determining the
remuneration packages of all Directors and the Group’s senior
management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments for loss or termination of their office
or appointment. Implementation and execution of Board
policies and strategies and the daily administrative matters
are delegated to the respective Board committees and the
management team of the Company.

The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings a
year and additional meetings will be held or resolutions in
writing signed by all Directors in lieu of a meeting will be
arranged as and when required. If a substantial shareholder
of the Company or a Director has a conflict of interest in
a transaction which the Board determines to be material,
it will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting. Comprehensive information on
matters to be discussed at the Board meeting will be supplied
to the Directors in a timely manner to facilitate discussion and
decision-making.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

At the date of this report, the Board comprises two executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors, the name and office of each of the
members of the Board and the Board committees of the
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Company are as follows:

Board members

EEgKE

Office
BE

Ms. Wong Chi Lou Shirley
TR L

Mr. Chan Sze Tung
BR &5 1A o 4=

Ms. Yeung Chi Hung $.8.5, B.8.S., J.P
BEL LT sBs,88S, )P

Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie M.H., J.p
PREELZ T MH, JP

Mr. Chan Cham Man Simon
PR EL S ST A

Mr. Liu Kin Wai
2Rk E

Audit Committee members

Mr. Liu Kin Wai (chairman)

Mr. Chan Cham Man Simon

Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie M.H., J.P.

Remuneration Committee members

Mr. Liu Kin Wai (chairman)
Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie M.H., J.P
Ms. Yeung Chi Hung S.8.S., B.B.S., J.P

Nomination Committee members

Ms. Wong Chi Lou Shirley (chairman)

Mr. Chan Cham Man Simon
Mr. Liu Kin Wai

Executive Director, Chairman and chief executive officer

HITES - TR RITHRER

Executive Director and chief operating officer
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Non-executive Director

FRITES

Independent non-executive Director

BUIIERITES

Independent non-executive Director

BIUIFRITES

Independent non-executive Director
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EREIWE

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract
with the Company for an initial term of three years,
commencing from the Listing Date (subject to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant service
contract) and all executive Directors (i.e Ms. Wong Chi Lou
Shirley and Mr. Chan Sze Tung) have renewed their service
contracts with the Company for three years commencing from
12 January 2024.

The non-executive Director has signed a letter of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of three years,
commencing from the Listing Date (subject to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letter
of appointment). The service contract with Ms. Yeung Chi
Hung has been renewed for three years commencing from 12
January 2024.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed
a letter of appointment with the Company. Ms. Chan Man Ki
Maggie has signed a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years from 13 June 2019 to 12 June
2022 and the letter of appointment has been renewed with
no specific term commencing from 13 June 2022. Mr. Chan
Cham Man Simon has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years from 1 December 2021
to 30 November 2024. Mr. Liu Kin Wai has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years from
1 March 2023 to 28 February 2026.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”).

The Board composition is regularly reviewed to ensure that
it has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirement of the business of the Group. A balanced
composition of executive Directors, non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors is maintained
to ensure independence and effective management. The
Company has satisfied the relevant provision of the GEM
Listing Rules in having at least one of the independent
non-executive Directors with appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Save as disclosed under the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”,
there is no relationship among the members of the Board.
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The appointment of Directors is recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee and
approved by the Board based on a formal written procedure
and policy for the appointment of new Directors. When
selecting potential candidates for the Directors, their skills,
experience, expertise, devotion of time and non-conflicts of
interests are the key factors.

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The Board
directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating
to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management, material transactions (in particular those
that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of directors and other significant operational
matters of the Company.

The daily operation and management of the business of the
Group, including, among other matters, the implementation of
strategies, are delegated to the executive Directors and senior
management. They report periodically to the Board on their
work and business decisions.

All Directors have been fully consulted about any matters
proposed for inclusion in the agenda for regular meetings.
The chairman of the Board has delegated the responsibility
for drawing up the agenda for each Board meeting to the
Company Secretary.

With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the Chairman
seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at the Board meetings and have received adequate and
reliable information in a timely manner.

EREQWE

EXEZAARBRENESF 2 EXAERA
MEFLEBE BFHNEEGRIEREZE
eXEHE URKEFTSHE EHES
FEEREREAR  HEM - &k F
ERERERERENDEHERSEERNR

EEgRABEREREFARA  XHA
BEREREEARARAEH -EFS2EA
HIFTREMEEREREN  BEELER
HZEeRERENEEEEE  BEEAX
SENZEENMUBRI - WHERABDEE
KRR ERGERE

T

E=ZgREMAEZFENARE  EF
BRARBNBREE REREE R
MEELRERER EARS (LEZA
SR SERE)  UHER ZEESF
REMBENEEEH -

HTEELRRREEEED KEEAEHE
X AREERERE B (AHhEeR)
ERE - REATHRBREZTERRE
FRERNEFSWE -

EHERBRRAZEAEHCEEAN
MEEE -EFQIRCEEREBRES

SRHBIRL FEHETRARE -

ENRMEZWEY  TRREERESTS
SR LMAEEHEENBENNEER -
I Ko B U2 et Al SE RV EFR ©

BEEXEBEZERERLAR —T-NFEFR

27



28

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Notices of at least 14 days are given to the Directors for
regular meetings, while the Board papers are sent to the
Directors not less than three days before the intended date
of a Board or Board committee meeting. With respect to
other meetings, the Directors are given as much notice as is
reasonable and practicable in the circumstances. The Directors
can attend meetings in person or through other means of
electronic communication in accordance with the Articles.
The Company Secretary ensures that the procedures and all
applicable rules and regulations are complied with. Minutes of
the Board meetings and meetings of the Board committees are
kept by the Company Secretary and are available for inspection
at any time on reasonable notice by any Director.

The Directors have full access to information of the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever
they deem necessary. The Directors will be updated with
legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the
Directors in the discharge of their duties from time to time. The
Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee are provided with sufficient resources to perform
their duties.

Minutes of Board meetings and of Board committee meetings
should record in sufficient detail the matters considered and
decisions reached, including any concerns raised by Directors
or dissenting views expressed. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to Directors or members of the relevant Board
committees for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting.

Any material transaction, which involves a conflict of interests
between a substantial shareholder or a Director and the
Company, will be considered and dealt with by the Board
at a duly convened Board meeting with the presence of the
independent non-executive Directors. Directors are abstained
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which such Directors or any of
their associates have a material interest.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.
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Responsibilities

In the course of discharging their duties, the Directors
act in good faith, with due diligence and care, and in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders. Their
responsibilities include (i) regular board meetings focusing on
business strategy, operational issues and financial performance;
(ii) monitoring the quality, timeliness, relevance and reliability
of internal and external reporting; (iii) monitoring and
managing potential conflicts of interest of management, board
members and shareholders, including misuse of corporate
assets and abuse in connected transaction; and (iv) ensuring
processes are in place to maintain the overall integrity of the
Company, including financial statements, relationships with
suppliers, customers and other stakeholders, and compliance
with all laws and ethics.

Director’s Responsibilities for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the
Group and ensure that the consolidated financial statements
of the Group are accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the
timely publication of the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. In preparing the accounts for the Year, the
Directors have, among other things:

selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently;

o approved adoption of all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards which are in conformity with the International
Financial Reporting Standards;

e the disclosure requirements under the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong); and

o made judgements and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and have prepared the accounts on the going
concern basis.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, and having made all reasonable
enquiries, they are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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Chairman and Chief Executive

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual to
ensure a balance of power and authority. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing. With
effect from 14 September 2023, Ms. Yeung Chi Hung resigned
as the Chairman. Ms. Shirley Wong, an executive Director and
chief executive officer of the Company, was appointed as the
Chairman (the “Appointment”). After the Appointment, Ms.
Shirley Wong will take up both the roles of the Chairman and
chief executive officer of the Company which is a deviation of
the CG Code. The Board considers that the vesting both roles
in Ms. Shirley Wong will allow for more effective planning
and execution of business strategies. Although the positions
of Chairman and chief executive officer are not separate,
the powers and authorities have not been concentrated as
all major decisions have been made in consultation with the
Board and appropriate Board committees, as well as senior
management. In addition, there are non-executive Director
and three independent non-executive Directors on the Board
offering their experience, expertise, independent advice and
views from different perspectives. The Board is therefore of the
view that there are adequate balance of power and safeguards
in place. The Directors will continue to review the effectiveness
of the Group’s corporate governance structure to assess
whether changes, including the separation of the roles of
Chairman and chief executive officer, as and when necessary.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets
out the approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced
development of the Company and also to enhance the quality
of performance of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service.
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Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives as stated in the above. The ultimate decision
will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
six Directors. Three of the Directors are independent non-
executive Directors and independent of management, thereby
promoting critical review and control of the management
process. The Board is also characterised by significant diversity,
whether considered in terms of professional background and
skills.

The Board currently has three female Directors, which
representing half of the Board members, and as such has
achieved the gender diversity in respect of the Board.

As at 31 March 2024, the gender ratio in the workforce
(including senior management) of the Group of female and
male are 50% and 50%, which the Board considers to reflect
that a gender equality principle has been adhered to by
the Group. The Board has not identified any challenges for
maintaining gender diversity in the workforce so far.

The Group is determined to and will continue to maintain
gender diversity and equality in terms of the Board and the
general workforce.
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Board Meetings and General Meetings

During the Year, four Board meetings and one general meeting

ExggBRRRAE
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were held. Details of the Directors’ attendance records are set —RBERRE - EFHFLHFIBHT
out as follows: W
No. of No. of
eligible Board general
Meetings meeting
Name of Directors Attended/held attended/held
HE HE
BITEER BITRR
EEnE EESgEZEE REZHA
Executive Directors WITES
Ms. Shirley Wong FEBLZL 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chan Sze Tung PR 5 R S A 4/4 1/1
Non-Executive Director EMITES
Ms. Yeung Chi Hung SR Al 0/4 0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors JB3/ FFHITE S
Mr. Chan Cham Man Simon PR S 4/4 11
Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie PREHL L 4/4 1/1
Mr. Liu Kin Wai EilliEgm e 4/4 11
The Board also held a Board meeting on 21 June 2024 to EEENR T WFAAAZ+—HET
approve the annual results of the Company and to review #ZE&®&% LAT&HZK@TZEE%?\

and consider, inter alias, the audited financial statements of
the Group for the Year, internal control and risk management
system and review certain corporate governance matters for
the Year.

Code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the
chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting, and should also invite the chairmen of the audit,
remuneration and nomination committees to attend. Ms. Yeung
Chi Hung, the then Chairman (and the then chairman of the
Nomination Committee) was not able to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 14 August 2023 (the
“2023 AGM") due to other important business engagement.
She had delegated the chief executive officer to chair and be
available to answer questions at the 2023 AGM.
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AN B Ny SUs
PERERRE
Delegation by the Board BEEgfhK
During the Year, the Board has established four committees, Bﬁfif‘i CEFEEERVNMEZEE B
namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee ~ EEZZEE - FMEZEE - EHZ B9
the Nomination Committee and the Investment Management ~ RIEEEBREZEE - GEZEE 2 HTH
Committee. Specific responsibilities of each committee are ~ EFF M T - IAZ B &R T 2 B
described below. All committees have defined terms of CEARTPHZEEERTAZHAER
reference which are no less exacting than those set out in the & °
CG Code
As the Group has not much investment activities since the ~ HRAEEE L HBURTEAZHE
Listing Date and the overseeing of the control and risk &%) - HEE SR &R BARAR) & 42 K A
management associated with the investment activities and ~ BREEULHMAESEHEZZEER
other related matters are vested with the Audit Committee EFEEE G AREETHEZEECE T
and the Board, the Investment Management Committee was “=FNATIUBRE -
dissolved with effect from 14 August 2023.
Audit Committee EREES
The Audit Committee was established on 18 December 2017 ~ BHEZZEEERN_FT—+F+ - A+ /\H
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule — p/ - H & ERHE 8 E D 8 7 GEM E AR
5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision D.3 of the RIS 5.29 f& K2 b 3 VA 57 Al 2 57 AR08
CG Code. The Audit Committee comprises three members, ~ D.3fk - EZZ S @ m =KX 8K - B
namely Mr. Liu Kin Wai, Mr. Chan Cham Man Simon and Ms.  ZIZE 4 - BREX LA RRSM A+ -
Chan Man Ki Maggie. The chairman of the Audit Committee ~ BEZZE G TR ABIAREETE - WHEAR
is Mr. Liu Kin Wai, who holds the appropriate professional ~ GEM _E T #2 Al 52 5.05(2) % 5.28 - T8 T Ft
qualifications or accounting or related financial management  #E2 SEFEXER NG T LMY E
expertise as required under Rules 5.05(2) and 5.28 of the GEM BEZEMGF -
Listing Rules.
The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, but are ~ FZZBE S FEREBEETRNIAT
not limited to, the following: (i) making recommendations to HIF - (i)ﬁﬁ?hﬂ%’f?%ﬁﬂiZ%E&?‘é%fﬂé
the Board on the appointment and removal of the external &2 15 © (i) % B A B 2 B 5 3R &
auditor; (ii) reviewing the financial statements of the Group ﬂ%i%ﬁi%ﬁﬁ%#ﬁﬁkZﬁ%’Ei R (i) BE 22
and monitoring the integrity of such financial statements; and B/ &E 247 - RREERANEIZEHEF
(iii) overseeing the financial reporting system, risk management
and internal control procedures.
During the Year, three Audit Committee meetings were held ~ RAFE BRI -ABLZE @S
to review the quarterly, interim and annual results of the  DUBREIAERBEFET - ) K & 548 -
Group, the financial reporting, the effectiveness of the risk ~ BB E - RBREE L ANPEERGENH
management and internal control systems and to consider UM + I fE B 2 HAD I B IR AN N A
the change of auditors and re-election of auditor of the ~ Hfl - EBZZ B & IMAN —FT —MF XA
Company. The Audit Committee also held a meeting on 21 —THETEgR UBRRLZE (B
June 2024 to review and consider, inter alias, the audited ~ {BTBRIX) 7R BRI GE [ 2 45 B A% B 75
financial statements of the Group for the Year, the internal Wk~ AKHE Wﬁl}@%ﬂ&ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ%@ '
control and risk management system of the Group and the re- ~ REFEASBEIB 1286 - EF @ EFEZ
appointment of independent auditor of the Group. There was ZEe FEERTEINEZEEN T &
no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee DU o
on the selection and appointment of the external auditor.
Attendance records of each Audit Committee member are set ~ SEIZZEEKE 2 HELEEAINAT :
out below:

No. of eligible meetings
Name of Audit Committee member attended/held
EREEERENE HE/BITEEREEZHE
Mr. Liu Kin Wai Ell s 3/3
Mr. Chan Cham Man Simon PRE S 3/3
Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie REeHz+ 3/3

BEEXEBEZERERLAR —T-NFEFR
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The Company’s financial statements for the Year have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee
considered that the relevant financial statements have been
prepared in compliance with the applicable accounting
principles and requirements of the Stock Exchange and
disclosures have been fully made.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with written
terms of reference in compliance with all code provisions under
E.1 of the CG Code on 18 December 2017. The Remuneration
Committee comprises three members, namely, Mr. Liu Kin
Wai, Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie and Mr. Yeung Chi Hung. The
chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Liu Kin Wai.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
but are not limited to, the following: (i) evaluating the
performance of all Directors and senior management and
making recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for the remuneration of all the Directors and senior
management; (ii) making recommendations to the Board on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy; (iii) determining the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management and making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors; (iv)
reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the corporate goals and objectives
from time to time; and (v) reviewing and approving matters
relating to Share Option Scheme.

One Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the
Year to review and approve the remuneration of executive
Directors. At the Remuneration Committee meeting held on
21 June 2024, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration of the Directors and the senior management.

Attendance records of each Remuneration Committee member
are set out below:

Name of Remuneration Committee member

ARBNANFREZUBHRRCABZZE
BN EZZEERARBRMBERR
BEETHIMEAETRAIMAEREK
B BEHHE -

FHEER

FMEEeER _T—+tF+_-A+N\H
R HEESECETOEEATAE
EVRIET BTG - FEES
=ZKEBHAK  BIERIRELE RS
ZERGELALL - FWEESEFAED
fEEE -

FHZESXIERABRBREITRRATS
B (A eREEAERERB2RA
AR EBEZNSREREHMBE R
RBREFSELEE (KR ZERAR
FHRFANERFMERAEESIELE
& (INEEERRTEERSREREZ
A AR ERTESFHANESS
tEHEE  (V2REXEBELEHN T
EMRAEERENTFMESR  RVEH
Kt/ER B R 8l 2 FIE -

REEAN BRI -AFHEESSH
NEHRBEEATEEZHFHN R =-F
“TMERAt-HZFHWEZEES SR
- FHEZEeENEZNSAEEREL
#rE -

BEHHEREKB 2 HFELEHIIMT

No. of eligible meeting
attended/held

FMEESERENE HEBITEEREREZHE
Mr. Liu Kin Wai IRk & 11
Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie PREMHL L+ 11
Ms. Yeung Chi Hung BRIt 0/1

Wine's Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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Details of the Directors’ remuneration and five highest paid
individuals for the Year as regarded to be disclosed pursuant
to the CG Code are provided in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EREQWE

AEEEEFHRALESHFALZFHE
BEREBEOFEATARE IR EAH
BaRHIFES °

During the Year, the remuneration of the senior management ~ RAFE - SR ERE 2 HEIEZE R
is listed below by band: mr
Number of
individuals
AT ZEE
HK$ Nil to HK$1,000,000 0% 1,000,000 T 3
Nomination Committee REZES

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms
of reference in compliance with all code provisions under
B.3 of the CG Code on 18 December 2017. The Nomination
Committee comprises three members, namely Ms. Shirley
Wong, Mr. Liu Kin Wai and Mr. Chan Cham Man Simon. The
chairman of the Nomination Committee is Ms. Shirley Wong.

The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include,
but are not limited to, the following: (i) reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii) assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors;
(iii) making recommendations to the Board on matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors; and (iv) reviewing the
policy on the Board diversity and the measurable objectives for
implementing such policy from time to time adopted by the
Board annually.

The Company has adopted a board independence policy to
ensure independent views are available to the Board. Under
the policy, the Nomination Committee shall put emphasis
on whether the composition of executive and non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) is
balanced and shall ensure that there is a strong independent
element on the Board. All Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) are given opportunities to include
matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings. Upon a
reasonable request of any Director, the Board shall resolve
to provide separate independent professional advice, at the
Company’s expenses.

REZEGENR_ZT—LF+-A+/\H
R ERESECETERERTASE
B3MHE NZAETAIGRY - R2ZREBE
—ZKEEK BRELZBZL - BIEE
FERBRENEE - RRZEGIRERTE
LAt o

RAZESIZBEEEETRNUTS
BH:()VRASEFEHRE - RERMEK
(i) FHEBUIFAITES 2B ¢ (i) [AE
FeHBRIUEHNZTEETUNESH
T8 R EFENEZTEZTERE
AREFEETRRALERBBEBRR A

SHEER

ARBIEHRMESTSHIIEBR - AR
EXZSRMHEIBILER - REZBE
REAZESMBEHBEIRTESNIENT
% (BREFNITES) MEXEEE
B YHRREFSEBBRDNBILM - 7
BEZ (BERBUFNTES) DAKSRE
THEEEREMNEREPIIAEE - £
MEZENAEERT  EFFRRFZRM
EENBEVEXER  BRBARAEIE -
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One Nomination Committee meeting was held during the Year
to (i) review and consider that the structure, size, diversity
and composition of the Board; (ii) assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors; and (iii) recommend the
re-appointments of Directors. The Nomination Committee also
reviewed the board diversity policy to ensure its effectiveness
and considered that the Group has achieved the objectives of
the board diversity during the Year.

Attendance records of each Nomination Committee member
are set out below:

AEFBIT-RRBZEEEH - A0
AREREFTENRE - REMEK (i)
MBI IFMITE SR 2B ¢ K (i) EE
ENMZIES - REZEQNCRIES
L TUEBRABREERIE - XRAR
SENAFECEREFEZTEMNAR -

ERAHLZEBERBZHFRREHIIMT

No. of eligible meeting

Name of Nomination Committee member attended/held

REZEEHREN®E HE BOEEREEZEE

Ms. Shirley Wong TEBLL 0/0
(appointed on 14/9/2023) (R-ZFE-—=FNA+INHEZT)

Mr. Chan Cham Man Simon PRyE S S A 1/1

Mr. Liu Kin Wai FIREEEE 171

Ms. Yeung Chi Hung HBEAL T 0/1

(resigned on 14/9/2023)

The Nomination Committee will review the Board composition
by considering the benefits of all aspects of diversity, including
but not limited to those described under the heading of “Board
Diversity Policy” in this annual report. The Board Diversity
Policy and the Board Independence Policy shall be reviewed by
the Nomination Committee annually, as appropriate, to ensure
its effectiveness.

The Nomination Committee shall consider factors below when
it makes recommendation for appointment and reappointment,

inter alia:

a) mix of Board members that promotes diversity of
background and experience on the Board;

b) competency;

¢)  age of potential/existing Director;

Wine's Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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d) independence of potential/existing Board member;

e) business, technical, or specialised skills and experience of
member/potential member;

f)  ability, time, commitment and willingness of a new
member to serve and an existing member to continue
service,

g) specific value a member/potential member can add to the
Board; and

h)  number of listed company directorships (applicable to
candidates of independent non-executive Directors).

Investment Management Committee

The Investment Management Committee was established with
written terms of reference in compliance on 18 December 2017.
As the Group has not much investment activities since the Listing
Date and the overseeing of the control and risk management
associated with the investment activities and other related
matters are vested with the Audit Committee and the Board, the
Investment Management Committee was dissolved with effect
from 14 August 2023.

EREQWE

d) BE/REEFSHENBLIE:

e) MEB/BEKEMER  RHEX
RRe B

f) KB MEEN - AR - AwE K
ﬁ%%@ A KRAEK B B AT

/////

9 KB/ BEKERESAESZILING
FEE: &

hy HELHTRARESEHE CERRNEL
FRITESREAN)

REEEZE®
KEEHELZEER _E—+tF+=A8
+NBKY  HB#EESEDETTR - A
NAEE G L AHNEN EAZIREE
- BEEEmREEHEENEERER
EEARHEMEEEEREZEZESRE
EeRE MREEEZESCEBH_-Z
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in code provision A.2.1 of the
CG Code. As mentioned under the paragraph headed “Board
Meetings and General Meetings” above, the Board has (i)
reviewed the Company’s practices on corporate governance
for the Year; (ii) reviewed and monitored the training and
continuous professional development of the Directors and
senior management for the Year; (iii) reviewed and monitored
the Company’s practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements for the Year; (iv) reviewed and
monitored the code of conduct applicable to Directors for the
Year; and (v) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “required standard of
dealings”). In response to the specific enquiry of the Directors
made by the Company, all Directors have confirmed that they
had compiled with the required standard of dealings and its
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors
throughout the Year.

Wine's Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT BEEFEEXERE
FOR DIRECTORS

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. EFATY mi“?)s‘zﬁzﬁ SR BiBE
The Directors are continually updated with business and TBEZEEEF ZX B EFEX
market changes, and legal and regulatory developments to 1¢&¢%§/ﬁﬁ%ﬁ * GEM T AR Bl E E 8
facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities through various — & * #AEARELHEMEBETEK £F
Board meetings, resolutions, memoranda, Board papers, and SEEBETEEATEES  EER
updates on corporate governance practices and director’'s (IR - BITR S 2B -
responsibilities under the GEM Listing Rules, applicable laws

and other relevant statutory requirements.

Up to date of this annual report, the current Board members B ZAFHHWBH  BEMNESSNED
participated in the following training programs: SERPATIEFIRIE -

Types of training

ZAIEE
Reading
materials
updating on
Attending new rules and
Name of Directors training regulations
BRESH
HRIRR
EEpng 2miEI REIREE MR
Executive Directors HITEE
Ms. Shirley Wong FEBEZL v/ v
Mr. Chan Sze Tung PR S5 A 55 A v/ v
Non-Executive Director HHITEE
Ms. Yeung Chi Hung BEAZ L v/ v
Independent Non-Executive Directors B IEHiTEE
Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie PREEL L v v
Mr. Chan Cham Man Simon BRIES v 4
Mr. Liu Kin Wai 2R E v v

BEEXEBEZERERLAR —T-NFEFR 39
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

As at the date of this annual report, the Directors and officers
of the Company are indemnified by the Company against any
liability incurred by them in discharge of their duties while
holding office as the Directors and officers of the Company.
The Directors and officers of the Company shall not be
indemnified where there is any fraud, breach of duty or breach
of trust proven against them. The Company had arranged
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance as
required under the CG Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ng Man Wai was appointed as the Company Secretary
of the Company on 20 February 2024. He is responsible for,
among others, ensuring a good information flow within the
Board and between the Board and senior management of
the Company, providing advice to the Board in relation to
the Directors’ obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and
applicable laws and regulations and assisting the Board in
implementing the corporate governance practices. Mr. Ng has
attended not less than 15 hours of training as required under
Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules during the Year.

Wine's Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring
the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group on an ongoing basis and reviewing their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. There is currently no internal
audit department within the Group. The day-to-day operations
are entrusted to personnel of the Group who is accountable
for conduct and performance of the Group and is required
to ensure the business operation of the each department to
be in line with the scope of the delegated authority and to
ensure each department to implement and strictly adhere
to the strategies and policies set by the Company from
time to time. The Board will be kept informed of material
developments of business and implementation of the policies
and strategies set by the Board on a regular basis. The chief
operating officer is responsible for the overall internal audit
function and an external consultant is engaged to review the
internal control systems of the Group and present its findings
and recommendations to the Audit Committee and the Board.
Accordingly, the Board considered that the Company’s internal
control system is adequate and effective and no internal audit
department is considered necessary in consideration of the
Group's current operation size and organisation structure.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, will conduct an
annual review of both design and implementation effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group, which covered all material controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls. Such annual
review will be done with a view to ensuring that resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Group's accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the Audit
Committee will communicate any material issues to the Board.

EREQWE
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The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management
measures to enhance the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and to mitigate risks of the
Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the findings
and recommendations, as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk
management systems are effective and adequate.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

We established appropriate level of information technology
assess rights, avoiding leakage of price sensitive information.
We also establish inside information disclosure procedures,
including reporting channels and responsible person of
disclosure, unified response to external enquiries and obtain
advice from professional financial advisors or the Stock
Exchange, if necessary, in order to ensure compliance with the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules regarding handling and
dissemination of inside information.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION AND
RESPONSIBILITIES

For the Year, the fees paid/payable to the Group’s external
auditors in respect of the audit services and non-audit services
were approximately HK$0.7 million and approximately
HK$0.1 million, respectively. The reporting responsibilities of
ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited are set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Reports on pages 104 to 108 of this annual report.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit

Committee on the selection and appointment of the external
auditors during the Year.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with its
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance
of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions.

The disclosure of the Group’s information in a reasonable
and timely manner by the Board is essential for providing
shareholders as well as the investors a better understanding
of the business performance, operations and strategies of the
Group. The Company’s website at www.wines-link.com allows
the potential and existing investors as well as the public to gain
access to and acquire the Company’s up-to-date corporate and
financial information.

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the
Company, such as telephone hotline, email address and postal
address, in order to enable them to make any query that
they may have with respect to the Company. They can also
send their enquiries to the Board through these means. The
contact details of the Company are provided in the “Corporate
Information” section of this annual report and the Company’s
website.

The Board welcomes views of shareholders and encourages
them to attend general meetings to raise any concerns that
they may have with the Board or the management directly.
Board members and appropriate senior staff of the Group are
available at the meetings to answer any questions raised by
shareholders.

The Board has reviewed the Shareholders’” Communication
Policy and its effectiveness for the Year. Taking into account the
various existing channels for communication and participation,
the Company is of the view that the existing Shareholders’
Communication Policy is appropriate to the Company and has
been duly and effectively implemented.
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EREIWE

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors,
for shareholders’ consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant
to article 12.3 of the Articles, the Directors may, whenever they
think fit, convene a general meeting, and general meetings
shall also be convened on the written requisition of any two
or more members deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong. If the Board does not within 21 days
from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed to duly
convene the meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them may convene a general meeting in the
same manner as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
may be convened by the Directors.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company
or put forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. The
contact details are as follows:

Board of Directors

Wine’s Link International Holdings Limited

Address 26th Floor, AIA Financial Centre,
712 Prince Edward Road East,

San Po Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
2317 1100

2317 1032
general@wines-link.com

Telephone no.
Fax no.
Email address

To put forward proposals at an annual general meeting or a
general meeting, the shareholders shall submit a written notice
of those proposals with detailed contact information to the
Board/Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong and upon its confirmation that the
request is proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask
the Board to include the proposed resolution in the agenda for
the general meeting.

Wine's Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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Moreover, the notice period concerning the notice to be given
to all the shareholders for consideration of the proposals
submitted by the shareholders concerned varies as follows
pursuant to article 12.4 of the Articles:

(@) for an annual general meeting, it shall be called by notice
in writing of at least twenty-one days; and

(b) for a general meeting other than an annual general
meeting, it shall be called by notice in writing of at least
fourteen days,

shall be given in the manner mentioned in the Articles to all
members, to the Directors and to the auditors.

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong and provide their
full names, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

A copy of the second amended Memorandum and Articles
of Association is posted on the designated website of the
Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the website of the
Company at www.wines-link.com.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there was no change
in the Articles.
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INTRODUCTION

Wine's Link International Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the "Group”) is primarily
involved in the wholesale and retail businesses of a wide
spectrum of wine products and other alcoholic beverages in
Hong Kong with a focus on premium collectible red wine.

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report”) summarises the environmental, social and governance
("ESG") initiatives, plans and performances of the Group and
demonstrates its commitment to sustainable development.

BOARD STATEMENT

The board of directors (the “Board”) is pleased to present
the ESG Report of the Group, which reviewed the Group's
ESG initiative, plans, performance, as well as its sustainable
development in respect of environmental protection, labour
practices, business operations, supply chain management,
and other issues. As a responsible corporation, the Group
views ESG commitments as part of its responsibilities and
is committed to incorporating ESG considerations into its
decision-making process.

Meanwhile, the Group actively responds to environmental
policies such as carbon neutrality, energy conservation and
waste reduction, and promotes sustainable development
of enterprises. The Group believes that setting ESG-related
targets can enhance the Group’s commitment to corporate
social responsibility and allow the Group’s stakeholders to
better understand the Group’s ESG performance. Accordingly,
the Group has set targets for issues that are material to the
Group, including greenhouse gas (“GHG") emissions, waste
management, energy consumption and water consumption.

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group has developed a comprehensive governance
framework to ensure the alignment of ESG governance with
its strategic growth, while advocating ESG integration into its
business operations.

Wine's Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024
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The Board holds the overall responsibility for the Group's ESG
strategies, management approach and reporting. To better
manage the Group's ESG-related issues, the Board examines
and approves the ESG-related goals and targets, priorities,
policies and frameworks, as well as reviews the progress
towards their implementation and achievement with the
assistance of the ESG task force (“ESG Task Force”). Besides,
the Board is also accountable for ensuring the effectiveness of
ESG risk management and internal control mechanism through
annual assessments against ESG-related issues.

The Group has established the ESG Task Force, chaired by the
chief executive officer to facilitate the Board’s oversight of
ESG issues. The ESG Task Force is responsible for collecting
and analysing the relevant ESG information, identifying and
assessing the Group’'s ESG risks, as well as planning and
implementing ESG-related policies, guidelines and measures.
The ESG Task Force also identifies, evaluates and prioritises
material ESG issues through materiality assessment, which
are further reviewed and endorsed by the Board for report
disclosure. In addition, the ESG Task Force periodically reports
the ESG related matters to the Board for the evaluation
and subsequent implementation or revision of the Group’s
ESG strategies and management approach, and to ensure
appropriate risk management on ESG.

REPORTING BOUNDARIES

The management of the Group identifies the reporting scope
based on the materiality principle and considers the core
business and main revenue source. Considering that the
Group's operations are solely derived from sale and distribution
of wine products, other alcoholic beverages and wine
accessory products in Hong Kong, the ESG Report covers the
Group’s business activities in Hong Kong. The key performance
indicators (“KPIs”) data were gathered and analysed from
companies and subsidiaries that are under the Group’s direct
operational control.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges and
measures taken by the Group during the financial year ended
31 March 2024 (the “Year").
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REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance
practices can be found in the Corporate Governance Report of
this annual report.

The Group attaches great importance to materiality,
guantitative, and consistency during the preparation for the
ESG Report. The Group has applied these reporting principles
in the ESG Reporting Guide as the following:

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted to diagnose
material ESG issues during the Year, thereby adopting the
confirmed material issues as the focus of the ESG Report.
The materiality of ESG issues was reviewed and confirmed by
the Board and the senior management. Please refer to the
sections headed “Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality
Assessment” for further details.

Quantitative: This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with
the ESG Reporting Guide and discloses KPIs in a quantitative
manner. Information regarding the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation references and sources of key
conversion factors used for KPIs is stated wherever appropriate.

Consistency: The statistical methodologies applied to the ESG
Report were substantially consistent with the previous year
for meaningful comparison. If there are any changes that may
affect comparison with previous reports, the Group will make
explanatory notes to the corresponding section hereof.

The Group has established internal controls and a formal
review process to ensure that any information presented in
this ESG Report is as accurate and reliable as possible. This
ESG report has been approved by the ESG Task Force and the
Board.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

To further the Group's sustainable development efforts, the
Group engages its key stakeholders to identify sustainability
topics and potential risks by way of engagement sessions
including routine meetings and annual general meeting. Key
stakeholders include but are not limited to, shareholders and
investors, senior management and employees, customers,
suppliers, media and the public and government and other
regulatory authorities.

Stakeholders’ expectations have been taken into consideration
by utilising diversified engagement methods as shown below:

Stakeholders Engagement Methods
F0E SHETN
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Shareholders and investors

BRRMREE

Senior management
and employees
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Customers
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General meeting and other
shareholder meetings
Annual, quarterly and interim
reports

Announcements and circulars
Company website
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Training activities, seminars,
and briefing

Email and suggestion boxes
Regular general meetings
EINES - i arE MR
BEHRERME
EHBRREARE

Visits to retail shops
Customer service hotline and
email
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o Sustainable profitability

o Shareholder return

o Corporate governance

o Business development and
compliance

o TAIEERNEEN
o REMEK
° JJ:%E:/EI
e EBEENIER

o Remuneration and benefits
o Safe working environment
o Career development

o FHBIRAEN
o REHNIFERE
s EXER

o Knowledgeable wine
suggestions from sommelier

o Customer satisfaction

o High-quality services
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BRI HERELSWE

Stakeholders

Engagement Methods

Expectations

#0E ZHEEFN HE
Suppliers o Site visits o Fair and open procurement
o Business meetings and o On-time payment
discussion o Sustainable relationship
e e EBi2E e RARFIRE

Media and the public

Government and other regulatory
authorities

BT e A B E AR

s  EBEELAH

° ESG reports
J Company website
o Reports and announcements

o R HERERWME
o AL
s WERRE

° Written or electronic
correspondences

. Visits and inspections

o EENETFREE

.  SBRRE
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o Corporate governance
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The Group endeavours to actively listen to and collaborate with
its stakeholders to ensure that their opinions can be voiced out
through an effective communication channel. In the long run,
the stakeholders’ contribution will aid the Group in identifying
and improving potentially overlooked ESG performances
and maintaining the success of the Group’s business in the
challenging market.

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Board and the ESG Task Force have participated in the
preparation of the ESG Report. They have assisted the Group
in reviewing its operations, identified key ESG issues and
assessed its importance to its businesses and stakeholders. In
alignment with the Group’s vision on sustainability, business
will continue to be operated with high ethical standards and
provide sustainable returns to stakeholders.

With the assistance of the designated personnel from various
functional departments, the Group identified the list of
material ESG issues for the Group, based on its business, the
ESG Reporting Guide, and industry standard. To prioritise
the identified material ESG issues, the Group conducted a
material assessment survey during the Year. Management and
employees of different business units and departments were
invited to evaluate the significance of the identified ESG issues
to the stakeholders and the Group’s business. The results of
the materiality assessment were reviewed and approved by the
Board.
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The Group’s materiality matrix of ESG issues in the Year: REBRRE HEREREERAFERN
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1. Greenhouse gas emissions

9. Occupational health and safety

0= REBHER BEiEEEze
2. Energy consumption and resource 10. Child labour
management
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3. Water resources management 11.  Forced labour
KIRER sg s T

4. Waste management

12.  Training and development

BEERYER Fal Rk ER

5. Use of packaging materials 13.  Salaries and employee benefits
ERBEMH e LEBRM

6.  Impact on the environment 14. Diversity and equal opportunity
HRRNTE FrltRFERSE

7. Climate change 15. Talent attraction and retention
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8. Community contribution 16.  Anti-corruption
HERER k&S
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17.  Supply chain management
HERER
18.  Supplier evaluation and selection
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19.  Customer satisfaction
EFmEE
20.  Customer privacy
P&

21. Feedback and complaint handling
[88 A R 32

22.  Product safety and quality
EmzzNEE

23. Intellectual property protection
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During the Year, the Group confirmed that it has established
appropriate and effective management policies and internal
control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the
disclosed contents were in compliance with the requirements
of the ESG Reporting Guide.

CONTACT US

The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions
and suggestions. Stakeholders can provide valuable advice
in respect of the ESG Report or the Group's performances in
sustainable development by emailing to: general@wines-link.com.

THE GROUP’S COMMITMENT ON ESG ISSUES

The Group places great emphasis on incorporating sustainable
business practices into its daily operations. In achieving a
sustainable long-term growth, the Group recognises the
importance of taking into account stakeholders’ opinions as
they are an integral part of the Group. Moreover, they aid
the Group in identifying overlooked ESG issues from different
perspectives.

In order to identify and assess the material concerns of the
stakeholders, the Group has conducted materiality assessment
surveys through stakeholder engagement. The assessment
helped the Group determine the factors that have material
impacts on its sustainable growth and incorporated them in
the development of its ESG strategies and targets. The Group's
focus on ESG includes climate action and energy saving, along
with managing its resources and waste effectively. Recognising
the urgent need for decisive action to mitigate climate change,
the Group has set targets to reduce GHG emissions, electricity
usage, water consumption and waste disposed to landfills.
The environmental targets were approved by the Board and
the progress will be reviewed by the ESG Task Force annually.
The Group believes setting ESG-related targets can enhance
the Group's commitment to corporate social responsibility and
allow the Group’s stakeholders to have a clearer understand
on the ESG performance of the Group.

The Group upholds the people-oriented principle. It
appreciates and recognises the contribution of its employees.
In return, the Group protects its employees by being adamant
about providing a non-discriminatory workplace culture and
competitive remuneration packages. The Group organises
regular wine tasting workshops and gathering events to its
employees and their family members.
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The Group also aims to contribute to harmonious society and
works hand in hand with employees and non-governmental
organisations to participate in various community services
and donation. With these contributions, the Group was
again awarded the Caring Company Logo under the Caring
Company Award for the seventh consecutive time during the
Year.

As one of the largest wine companies in Hong Kong, the
Group's leadership position obliges it to shoulder great
responsibility to assist in constructing a more sustainable future
for its stakeholders and society. The Group pledges to make
consistent effort in strengthening its ESG missions in order to
create an everlasting value to the environment and society.

EMISSIONS

Environmental protection and sustainable development rely
on concerted and continuous efforts from all industries and
society. The Group is conscious of the environmental impact
associated with its operations, therefore, it has formulated the
Environmental Policy to manage its environmental footprint
across the Group's network of operating markets. In addition,
the Group is committed to minimising adverse environmental
impacts by improving existing policies and incorporating green
practices in its daily operations. During the Year, the Group
was not aware of any material non-compliance with laws
and regulations relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste that would have a significant impact on the
Group, including but not limited to, the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance, Water Pollution Control Ordinance and Waste
Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Air Emissions

The Group's air emissions were mostly generated by the use of
company vehicles. In response to the above sources, the Group
has actively taken measures to manage the air emissions
during its operation. Measures on controlling air emissions will
be provided in the following section headed “GHG Emissions”.
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The key environmental performance indicators of the Group’s

R

ItERER/RRE

AEENHRRAFEN T RIRFRRAIE

emissions in the Year are shown in the table below: BR TR

Environmental indicators Unit 2024 2023
REER By e e
Air emissions Mot 1)

BE HEHy )

Nitrogen oxides (NO,) emissions kg 3.58 7.87
BEAEY(NO,) HERL T

Sulphur oxides (SO,) emissions kg 0.06 0.14
)|L%ﬂi%(so )T;Fﬁ&( Fr

Particulate matter (PM) emissions kg 0.35 0.77
FERLY (PM) HE X T

Note 1:  The emission factors used to calculate the NOx, SOx and Bzt1 . R G ENOx - SOxF PM A HE 3K

PM are sourced from: (i) the Hong Kong Environmental
Protection Department’s (“EPD”) EMFAC-HK Vehicle
Emission Calculation model; and (ii) the United States
Environmental Protection Agency’s Vehicle Emission
Modeling Software — MOBILE6.1. The assumption of 80%
relative humidity, a temperature of 25 degrees Celsius, an
average speed of 30 kmh, and include running exhaust
emissions only.

During the Year, the Group discontinued the operations of
stores located in Tsim Sha Tsui and West Mid-Levels. Hence the
air emissions reduced significantly.

KEE

BFHRERER:EBREIREE
([ ® R F]) #IEMFAC-HK Veh/c/e
Emission Calculation ;5 & #E 3 it
EEA R (1) FE B IR E (R E E A
Vehicle Emission Modeling Software
JTEFM R B — /\/IOB/LE6. 7e
RRIGE R ES80% - 8 EHEL25
Z I@Hvﬁﬂ/j\ﬁvs’o RNEREE
BT ERAERHNE

REBE R IR R E M

WY EHEE - BMERHFBEERD -

Reduction target of air emissions BE SR BRI BE B 1R

Air emissions intensity Reduction target Baseline Year Status

BER R E B Z HEF 7R 5

NO, emissions intensity Reduce 3% by year ending Year ended 31 March 2022 Achieved
31 March 2027

NO, HF & & HE_ZT_+F=A=+—H #HE_T-__F=A=+—H BEK

IEFERDRL 3% IEFE

SO, emissions intensity Reduce 3% by year ending Year ended 31 March 2022 Achieved
31 March 2027

SO, BEE E BHE_ZT_+F=A=+—H #HET-__F=A=+—H BEK
I FE AT A 3% IEFE

PM emissions intensity Reduce 3% by year ending Year ended 31 March 2022 Achieved
31 March 2027

PM BERR & BHE_ZT-+HF=A=+—H0 ®BET-__F=A=+—H BEX
HFERRA 3% IEFE

BEEXEBEZERERLAR —T-NFEFR
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GHG Emissions

The principal GHG emissions of the Group were generated
from petrol and diesel consumed by company vehicles
(Scope 1), purchased electricity (Scope 2) and electricity
used for processing fresh water and sewage by government
departments, paper waste disposal at landfills and business
air travel (Scope 3). To reduce the Group’s GHG emissions,
the Group has set a target to gradually reduce GHG emissions
intensity (tCO,e/HK$ million revenue) by the year ending 31
March 2027, using the year ended 31 March 2022 as the
baseline year.

To achieve this target, the Group has adopted the following
measures:

Scope 1 - Direct GHG Emissions

The Group has adopted the following measures to mitigate
direct GHG emissions from petrol and diesel consumed by
vehicles in its operations:

- Switch to electric vehicles to replace old internal
combustion engine cars;

- Plan routes ahead of time to avoid route repetition and
optimise fuel consumption;

- Regularly service vehicles to ensure optimal engine
performance and fuel use;

- Switch off the vehicle engine when not in use; and

- Utilise public transportation instead of the Group’s
vehicles for business commute.

Scope 2 - Energy Indirect GHG Emissions

Electricity consumption accounted for the largest percentage
of GHG emissions within the Group. The Group has
implemented measures to reduce energy consumption and the
said measures will be mentioned in the section headed “Use of
Resources”.

Scope 3 - Other Indirect GHG Emissions

Electricity used for processing fresh water and sewage by
government departments, office paper waste disposal and
business air travel attributed to the category of other indirect
GHG emissions. Noting that air travels generate a large amount
of GHG emissions, the Group only utilises air travels when
deemed necessary. Tele-conferences and web conferences
are the Group’s preferred communication channels. Measures
implemented to reduce paper waste disposal are mentioned in
the section headed “Waste Management”.
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The key environmental performance indicators of the Group’s
GHG emissions in the Year are shown in the table below:

R

itEREARE

AEERRERBHFRNAFENERIR
BRBABENTRIR

Environmental indicators Unit 2024 2023
RIZIER B —E-EF —T_=
GHG emissions
BEREBEK
Direct emissions (Scope 1) tCOe 10.72 24.95
BEEBER (8E 1) W LIRE 2
Indirect emissions (Scope 2) Mote ) tCO,e 85.94 134.25
R BERR (F/F 2) 1) W _—ftixE =
Other indirect emissions (Scope 3) tCOe 1.50 3.49
HAn BB (/5 3) W — IR E &
Total GHG emissions tCOe 98.16 162.69
BERBHHRREE M-S LiREE
GHG emissions intensity Mot 2 tCO,e (per HK$

million revenue) 0.45 1.10

B = B PR E (Wa2)

WE—ALIREE

(Ba8EWRE (BT))

Note 1: The emission factor for Hong Kong based operations is
set at 0.39 kg CO,/kWh, which is sourced from CLP Power
Hong Kong Limited Sustainability Report 2023.

Note 2: For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recorded
revenue of approximately HK$216.6 million. For the
year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s revenue was
approximately HK$147.7 million. This data is used for

calculating other intensity data.

During the Year, the Group discontinued the operations of
stores located in Tsim Sha Tsui and West Mid-Levels. Hence the

GHG emissions reduced significantly.

Bt -

Biit2 -

BB R EE R R E
£0.39 F =Gkt TRRE T3
BEFEENERAFG-F ==
FOJfFEE R -

BHE—FE-pWF=HA=+—HIF
B REEERR N am 4216.6 B &
BT o Bip —E_—ZF=J=4—
HIFFE - NEEG W o 379 147.7
EEBIT o BT ARG ERZ M

AEE  AEEBDRIEZRKRPBEMTEFE
IR EHEE - BORERBBEIREZERY -

BEEXEBEZERERLAR —T-NFEFR
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BRI HERELSWE

Reduction target of GHG emissions

BEREHFRVESEE R

GHG emissions intensity Reduction target Baseline Year Status

BERBHERZE kB R HEF R &

GHG emissions intensity Reduce 3% by year ending Year ended 31 March 2022 Achieved
31 March 2027

BEREBHNEE HE_ZT_+F=A=+—H #HE_T__F=A=1+—H BEK
IFFERDR L 3% IFFE

Sewage Discharges into Water and Land

Due to the Group's business nature, the discharges into
land were insignificant. Similarly, discharges into water were
insignificant. Sewage discharge was covered by the water bill
and is considered as its water consumption. The relevant data
and water-saving measures will be mentioned in the section
headed “Water Consumption”.

Waste Management
Hazardous Waste Management

Due to the Group’s business nature, no material hazardous
waste was generated by the Group during the Year.
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Non-hazardous Waste Management

Non-hazardous waste disposed of by the Group was mainly
office paper. The Group contracted a licenced recycling
company to recycle non-reusable waste paper and confidential
documents on a regular basis. Commercial wastes from the
office, warehouse and retail shops were mainly collected by
the respective building management, the data of such disposal
was therefore not available. For other unavoidable disposals,
wastes were classified and arrangements were made with
government qualified recyclers for proper disposal. Overall,
the Group did not note a disproportional amount of waste
generated.

The Group places great effort in raising the awareness of its
employees on the importance of reducing waste production. As
part of its efforts to reduce waste, the Group has set a target
to conduct recycling campaigns twice a year from the year
ended 31 March 2023 onward. To better govern the use of
resources, the Group has developed the Policy on Environment
Performance and has included the following environmentally
friendly initiatives to enhance its environmental performance.

Green measures include but are not limited to the following:

- Reduce the use of single-use disposable items;

- Reuse income packaging materials from suppliers;

- Recycle office and electronic equipment after their life
cycle;

- Reuse single-sided waste paper where possible;

- Print electronic correspondences only when necessary;
and

- Procure office paper with Forest Stewardship Council
Recycled Label.

The key environmental performance indicators of the Group’s
non-hazardous waste production in the Year are shown in the
table below:

BiE  -ERELWE

BEFEEYERE

AEBEEREBENEEREEYTIEZARLE
oo REFEEFEOW AR - UEH
EU Al EEF AR MRS - KRG

WA= PEMTEENBEEEYTIE
MAEERGWE BWELIRGZERESE
B - SR EMETRRNRE - K

TY oA RS B A% 6 B 2 HE
W UEEERE - BEMs  A5EY
REBREETKLLOIBENREEY)

AEEBNIRRREEHRIVEEMELESE
ZUNEH - ERRBBESIN—In K
EEEXRTEE BAEHE—_ZT-_=F=A
—+t—BUEFERSFETRALEE
o AEBEEHTERBEMBEK - LLELT
HEREERER  WRIUATIRFEE
REHIRBER -

RIFEHBEFEENENATSE :
- EAERXRMEREYDS
-  BERFERHEmARAIEEMR
- BB FREMNRAENRETRE

- BUREEERERER
- ERUERITHETEN K

- RBHAZRMERZ 8 & OUIREK
WMRNERA

AEBELANBEZEZYNAFENTE
REXABEER TRIIR

Waste 2024 2023

e —E-F —F_=

Total non-hazardous waste produced Tonnes N/A 0.27

EXHNBEERMES U7 TiE A

Non-hazardous waste produced intensity Tonnes (per HK$ N/A 0.002
million revenue) EA

ELXNBEEERNER

wg (588K

&)

BEEXEBEZERERLAR —T-NFEFR
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During the Year, the Group discontinued the operation of
stores located in Tsim Sha Tsui and West Mid-Levels, which led
to a decrease in the amount of paper waste. As a result, the
production of non-hazardous waste is minimal and therefore
the relevant data is considered immaterial to be disclosed.

Office paper disposed of was recycled where practicable.
During the Year, 420kg of office paper was recycled (for the
year ended 31 March 2023: 267kg). The Group will continue
to monitor its performance, seek to reduce the amount of
waste produced.

Reduction target of non-hazardous waste produced

AREF > AEEDRIEURKRDEMAEF
WH RS E - BEREMAER D BIA%
BFEENEZEZYE D  FHit - HE
BUBRR AT EKRM A T IAKE -

KEEMRAZTHERAITER THEE
We ARFER AXDKRPHEAEHK
ROFH (BE-_E-_=%F=A=+—HI
FE:267FTR) - AEBEBEEEREE
| BORVEEYES -

EENEERRYNBEHEER

Environmental indicators Reduction target Baseline Year Status
BREER kB R HEF 7R &
Non-hazardous waste Reduce 3% by year ending Year ended 31 March 2022 Achieved

31 March 2027
BE_Z-_+tF&F=A=+—H
IEFERDRD 3%

produced intensity

EENBERRNEE

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group strictly regulates the operation of its business
to ensure the compliance with national and local laws and
regulations relating to environmental protection and pollutant
emissions. In the Year, there was no case of material non-
compliance with the Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Water
Pollution Control Ordinance and Waste Disposal Ordinance of
Hong Kong and other relevant laws and regulations relating
to air and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste that have
a significant impact on environment. In addition, there was
no report of significant fines or sanctions as a result of non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in the Year.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group takes the initiative to introduce green measures
to reduce the environmental impact arising from its business
operations. Measures on reducing general waste and office
paper waste production have been mentioned in the section
headed “Emissions”.
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Energy Consumption

The Group realises the scarcity of finite natural resources and
has therefore implemented policies to better govern the use
of resources. Recognising that the majority of the electricity
consumed was due to the 24-hour climate-control showroom
bar and wine storage, the Group places great effort in
procuring energy efficient wine cellars and cabinets, and would
regularly inspect the seal to ensure that it remains airtight to
avoid jeopardising the quality of wine and energy wastage.
Anomaly in electricity consumption will be investigated and
preventive measures will be taken.

In addition, the Group strives to further reduce energy
consumption by setting a target to gradually reduce electricity
consumption intensity (kWh/HK$ million revenue) by the year
ending 31 March 2027, using the year ended 31 March 2022
as the baseline year. To achieve this target, the Group has
adopted the following energy-saving measures:

- Switch on external lighting of the retail shop only during
operation hours;

- Pre-set air-conditioning temperature at the offices;

- Post eye-catching reminders near light switches and
electrical appliances for employees;

- Switch off all idle electrical appliances and unnecessary
lightings upon leaving the premises; and

—  Purchase equipment with higher energy efficiency on the
replacement of old equipment.

In addition, to further enhance energy efficiency of the lighting
system, the Group has set a target to replace its lighting
equipment with LED lighting by the year ending 31 March
2025.

BiE  -ERELWE

BERHFE

AEBEEBINERBABRESZ  MEE
MR AR I EIRE R o KRR
SHIEMNBRIBD ENREAR 24/ RIFE
SR EBEREEBERMAEE A%
B A NREE B E KA - WiSTE R
EEEABREZEN  EhB R Es
EENMENERERRE - AEB2Y
BETBNETAZE - WHITEHEE °
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S+ HLEFEAEEF  RETREZE
TECAHF=ZRA=+—HIEFEAZX ISR
RENHEERE (TER, B8k (O
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The total units of energy and water consumed by the Group

and the amount of total packaging material used for finished
products in the Year are shown in the table below:

REBRAFEIHAN RN BKEE L
KREKMTABERMBBEE TRIIT

Total use of resources Unit 2024 2023
BRERE By —ENF e
Purchased electricity consumed kWh 220,353.00 344,227.00
FrBRECIBE TR

Petrol consumed Mote 1) kWh 23,542.85 63,170.94
BB e T FLBF

Diesel consumed Mote 1) kWh 16,798.74 30,161.10
BB RS h () T FLBF

Total energy consumed kWh 260,694.59 437,559.04
e B T B

Energy consumption intensity kWh (per HK$ million revenue) 1,203.58 2,962.49
BEREREEE TEE (Ba8k%as (Bx))

Water consumption m?3 72.00 949.00
KRB SR

Water consumption intensity m3 (per HK$ million revenue) 0.33 6.43
FKEE MK (BEENKE (BT))

Note 1: The conversion factor used to convert data in other units Biad1: BEHAMEMCERTFRENE

to kWh is sourced from the Energy Statistics Manual
issued by the International Energy Agency.

Due to the closure of certain stores, the total energy
consumption intensity decreased by 59.37% from
approximately 2,962 kWh/HK$ million revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2023 to approximately 1,204 kWh/HK$
million revenue for the Year.

Water Consumption

The Group’s water use is mainly domestic water. Recognising
the importance of water conservation, the Group has set a
target to gradually reduce water consumption intensity (m3/
HKS$ million revenue) by the year ending 31 March 2027.
To achieve the target and enhance employees’ awareness
of water conservation, besides posting water conservation
reminders around the Group’s premises, the Group also
regularly inspects water taps to prevent leakage and installs
dual flush water cistern in toilets and water-saving thimble in
sinks where possible.
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Attributed to the implementation of the above-mentioned
water saving measures, water conservation awareness among
employees has increased. Total water consumption decreased
significantly by 92.41% from approximately 949m?3 for the
year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately 72m?3 for the Year
due to the discontinuance of stores.

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group did not
encounter any problem in sourcing water that was fit for

purpose.

Reduction target of use of resources

BiE  -ERELWE

EEE Fat shkiE e ﬁémﬁﬁm%ﬁ%ﬁ
Friges - A RAMEH  BRAKERER
—E-=FZA=+— Elltirmiw@
ST KRB A92.41% ERFERERH T2

HRAEENEKILEE  NEERERE
FRZKGIR 75 T 3 4 58 B (E AR TR o

BIRERA ARG R

Environmental indicators  Reduction target Baseline Year Status
BREER W E R BEXEF iR 2
Energy consumption Reduce 3% by year ending Year ended 31 March 2022 Achieved
intensity 31 March 2027
BEIRBRTE BE_T_+F=A=+—H BET-__F=A=+—H CEK
IFFERURL 3% IFFE
Water consumption Reduce 3% by year ending Year ended 31 March 2022 Achieved

31 March 2027
HE-_Z-_+F#=-H=+—H
I FERIE D 3%

intensity

RKEE

Use of Packaging Material

Due to the Group's business nature, the use of packaging
material was not considered to be a material ESG aspect to the
Group.

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

The Group does not engage in industrial production, therefore
the overall environmental impact from the Group’s business
operations is relatively low. Nevertheless, the Group remains
conscious of its existing and potential impacts, therefore
regularly assesses the environmental risks of its business
model, adopts preventive measures and ensures compliance
with relevant laws and regulations.

Indoor Air Quality

Indoor air quality was regularly monitored and measured.
During the Year, the indoor air quality of the Group’s
premises was satisfactory. To improve indoor air quality, air
purifying equipment were placed in the premises and the air
conditioning system was cleaned periodically. These measures
filtered out pollutants, contaminants and dust particles and
resulted in maintaining indoor air quality at a satisfactory level.
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CLIMATE CHANGE

The Group recognises the importance of the identification,
mitigation and adaption of significant climate-related issues.
Therefore, the Group is committed to managing the potential
climate-related risks which may impact the Group’s business
activities. The Group has formulated the Climate Change Policy
and Environmental Policy to identify and mitigate different
climate-related risks. Additionally, the Group has performed
a climate change assessment to identify and mitigate the
potential risks that may arise from its business operations.
The result of the assessment will be reviewed regularly by the
management of the Group. Climate-related risks faced by the
Group mainly stem from the following dimensions:

Transition Risks

As the climate legislation and regulations will be more
stringent to support the global vision of carbon neutrality, the
Group’s business operations may be materially and adversely
affected if it fails to comply with the laws and regulations
applicable to its businesses from time to time. Negative
publicity may also arise due to failure to meet the compliance
requirements for climate change. The Group’s related capital
investment and compliance costs thus increase. In response
to the policy and legal risks as well as the reputation risks,
the Group regularly monitors existing and emerging trends,
policies and regulations relevant to climate change and be
prepared to alert the top management where necessary to
avoid cost increments, non-compliance fines or litigation costs
due to delayed response.

In addition, there are increasing number of investors who
advocate combating climate change and customers who
seek low-carbon logistics solutions. If the Group fails to
implement effective measures to meet such expectations and
market change, the Group may lose potential investment
and experience reduced demand for its services. As a
countermeasure, the Group maintains high transparency in its
ESG policies, reports and related activities to build trust and
confidence with investors and customers.
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Physical Risks

As the frequency and magnitude of extreme weather events
intensify, the Group's supply chain would be affected to
a degree that it would disrupt product flow and shipping
worldwide. The Group relies on the third-party logistics service
providers for the transport of wine products. Delivery of wine
products may be disrupted due to adverse weather conditions,
which could result in delayed or lost delivery of products, and
may lead to loss of the Group's revenue. If the labelling, sealing
and packaging of wine products are damaged as a result of
inappropriate handling during the transportation process, the
Group may have to lower the selling prices of such damaged
products, which will result in a decrease in its profit margin
and adversely affect its profitability. To strengthen business
resiliency in face of extreme weather events, the Group has
developed strategies for mitigating and responding to them
across its value chain. Measures taken by the Group to stabilise
the supply chain will be mentioned in the section headed
“Supply Chain Management”.

Long-term effects such as the change of temperature may
also cause damage to the quality and supply of the Group’s
products. In particular, wine companies are vulnerable to the
physical risk because alcoholic beverages are easily affected
by external factors such as the temperature. To ensure quality
control of products, the Group evaluates the possible extreme
weather events that can damage the quality or supply of the
products, and inspects the cooling system regularly.

EMPLOYMENT

Human resources are the cornerstone of the Group. The
Group recognises that its continued success is dependent
on employees’ talents and their dedication. Employment
policies are formally documented in the Employee Handbook,
covering various aspects, such as recruitment, compensations,
remuneration, diversity and equal opportunities. The Group
periodically reviews existing policies and employment practices
to ensure continuous improvement of its employment
standards and competitiveness against service providers of the
similar industry. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total
of 24 employees (as at 31 March 2023: 30 employees).
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Breakdown of the employees by gender, age group,
employment type, employee category and geographical region

as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023 are as follows:

As at 31 March 2024
R-ZE-_NE=A=+—H

By Gender
g ezl

B Male

S

B rFemale
pegc

By Age Group
BEHRAR

M 18 - 25 years old
18 257%

M 26 - 35 years old
26Z355%

W 36 - 45 years old
364557
46 - 55 years old
46E555%

56 or above

56m kA L

By Employment Type
ZERER

B Full-time
25

B Part-time
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As at 31 March 2023
RZE-=%=F=+—H

By Gender
gzl

B Male

B4
B rFemale
2

By Age Group
BERAR

M 18 - 25 years old
18257,

B 26 - 35 years old
26ZE355%

W 36 - 45 years old
36ZE455%
46 - 55 years old
46ZE555%

56 or above

56k A L

By Employment Type
RERERR

B Full-time
28

B Part-time
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As at 31 March 2024
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By Employment Categories
REAER

B Management

EIDE
[ Other employees
HifgE
By Geographical Region
it 1P E i,
Il Hong Kong
B

B The United States
E3ET

[ The People’s

Republic of
China (the
“PRC")
HEE A RAAME
(THhER D)
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As at 31 March 2023
N-B-=%F=H=+—H

By Employment Categories
REAER

B VManagement
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[ Other employees
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By Geographical Region
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M Hong Kong
B

B The United States
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[ The People’s

Republic of
China (the
“PRC")
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During the Year, the overall employee turnover rate was

70.37% (Note 1) (2023: 85.33%). The breakdown of turnover
rate for the Year and the year ended 31 March 2023 are as

follows:

Employee turnover rate by categories

BERBDHEERAR

RAFE  BEEBRKEET70.37% (M
F1) (=% :8533%) - RAFER
BHE T2 ="F=ZA=+—HILFENR
KEBFMET AT -

2024 (Note 2) 2023 (Note 2)
—EE M2 T — =4 WE2)

By gender begall

- Male - 3

- Female -4

By age group REEAER
— 18 — 25 years old - 18&E257%%
- 26 - 35 years old -26%£35%5%
- 36 - 45 years old - 36 £ 455
— 46 — 55 years old - 46 =555
- 56 years old or above - 56mak A E
By geographical region R IR R i
- Hong Kong - BB

— The United States - &E

— The PRC -

Note 1: The calculation formula is shown as below:

Note 2:

Total turnover rate = X/Y * 100%

X = Number of employees leaving employment during the
Year

Y = (Number of employees at the beginning of the Year +
Number of employees at the end of the Year)/2

The calculation formula of turnover rate by category is
shown as below:

Turnover rate by category = X/Y * 100%

X = Number of employees in the specified category
leaving employment during the Year

Y = (Number of employees in the specified category at
the beginning of the Year + Number of employees in the
specified category at the end of the Year)/2
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83% 67%
56 % 97%
200% 160%
57% 114%
64 % 72%
50% 43%
100% 80%
68% 89%
200% -
67% 100%
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BBRAER=X/Y * 100%
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Recruitment, Diversity and Equal Opportunities

Sustainable growth of the Group relies on a non-
discriminatory recruitment process and the diversity of talents.
The Group's employees are recruited via a robust, transparent
and fair recruitment process based solely on their experience
and expertise and without regard to their age, ethnicity, origin,
gender identity, marital status, sexual orientation and religion.
The recruitment process is supported by the Group’s separate
Recruitment Policy that details the recruitment process and sets
out the responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee, Vice
President of respective departments and the Human Resources
Department in ensuring that the selection process is just and
standardised.

The Group believes that all employees should have the
right to work in an environment free of discrimination,
harassment and vilification and is committed to creating and
maintaining an inclusive and harmonious workplace culture.
The Group emphatically states its zero-tolerance stance on any
aforementioned behaviours in the workplace of any form.

Benefits and Welfare

The Group understands that good benefits and welfare
encourages retention and fosters a sense of belonging. The
Group offers attractive remuneration packages, including
performance bonus, discretionary bonuses and sales
commission. In addition to the entitlement of leaves stipulated
in the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Group
provides other leaves to its employees, such as compassionate
leave, compensation leave, etc. Save for the aforementioned
entitlement to leaves, the employees are also entitled to
benefits such as birthday red packet, discount on the Group’s
products purchase, group medical insurance scheme and
business trip travel insurance scheme.

Family-friendly Employer

The Group was commended by the Home Affairs Bureau and
the Family Council for the Family-Friendly Employers Award
Scheme which demonstrated that the Group was successful
in implementing family-friendly practices to promote a better
work-life balance for its employees.
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Promotion and Performance Review

Employees’ salary is reviewed annually according to the
result of their performance review in the first quarter of the
financial year. Employees are promoted on the basis of their
performance and the extent to which they demonstrate the
attributes required for the higher grade. The Group also gives
preference to internal promotion to reward employee’s loyalty
and continuous effort.

Working Hours and Rest Periods

Official working hours and rest periods are clearly stated in
the Employee Handbook and are in accordance with the local
employment laws. Unless otherwise specified, employees
of non-executive grades may be compensated by way of
compensation leave should they be required to work out of
stipulated working hours in the case of urgent business needs.

Compensation and Dismissal

The Group compensates employees in accordance with the
provisions of the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of
Hong Kong, which covers employees who sustain personal
injury by accident or disease arising out of and in the course of
employment. Unreasonable dismissal under any circumstances
is strictly prohibited. Dismissal will be based on reasonable and
lawful grounds supported by internal policies of the Group.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with employment-related laws and regulations that
would have a significant impact on the Group, including but
not limited to the Employment Ordinance, Sex Discrimination
Ordinance, Disability Discrimination Ordinance, Family Status
Discrimination Ordinance, Race Discrimination Ordinance and
Minimum Wage Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY
Occupational Health and Safety Management

The Group places a high priority on providing employees with
a safe and healthy working environment and is committed
to safeguarding the well-being of all employees. Working
arrangement during typhoon and rainstorm has been clearly
specified by the Group in the Employee Handbook to avoid
any confusion which might lead to safety issue. Policy on
fire precautions is also stated in the Employee Handbook to
alert its employees of the importance of fire prevention. Fire
extinguishers are strategically placed and fire exits are free
from obstruction. Meanwhile, first aid boxes are accessible in
the premise.

Work-related fatalities occurred
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Number of work-related fatalities
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Number of lost days due to work injury
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Lost days due to work injury
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Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with health and safety-related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group,
including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance of Hong Kong.

During the Year, the Group did not register any material injury
cases and working days lost due to work injury. The Group
recorded zero cases of work-related fatalities and this has been
maintained for 3 consecutive financial years.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING
Provision of Training Opportunities

Training and continuous development are indispensable to the
Group's employees to keep abreast of the ever-changing trend
of the industry. The Group encourages a continuous learning
atmosphere for career development and thus provides on-
the-job training and both internal (wine tasting) and external
(Wine & Spirit Education Trust, whisky training course) courses
and workshops to its employees. This ensures that employees
not only hold relevant wine and spirit qualifications but are
also equipped with a wealth of knowledge and experience in
advising customers on picking their preferred wine or other
alcoholic beverages. In the long run, the breadth of employees’
knowledge will attract new customers and forge close bonds
with existing customers. Moreover, employees are eligible for
reimbursement on job-related training, courses and seminars
and are also entitled to apply for paid study or examination
leave. The Group holds firm belief that providing its employees
with adequate training opportunities and room for continuous
development lays a solid foundation for the Group’s continuing
success.
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During the Year, the percentage of employees trained is as  RAFE - XIEENBEILLWT ¢
follows:
Percentage of employees trained by categories 2024 2023
ZIHRERERNZBEDL —E-NE —E-=F
Percentage of employees trained ™t " SilfE B B oL W 100% 27%
By gender (Note 2) ?§/|$)DJ|J (Htst2)
- Male - B 50% 50%
- Female =y 50% 50%
By employee category Mete?) &R B a5 W2
- Management -ERE 38% 100%
— Other employees -HEMES 62%
Note 1:  Percentage of employees trained is calculated by dividing Wizt . RAES B SR 2 I 6 g
the number of employees who took part in training by the BN A EENEGE -
number of employees.
Note 2:  Breakdown for employees trained by categories is ~ Mit2 :  HIEFIE 7 492 E S #5121

calculated by dividing the number of employees trained in
specified category by the number of employees who took
part in training.
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Training and development courses are offered throughout the
Group to upgrade employee skills and knowledge. During
the Year, all directors participated in continuous professional
development activities by reading regulatory updates, and/or
attending seminars or workshops relevant to the business or
directors’ duties.

During the Year, average training hours completed per
employee is as follows:

BRI HERELSERE
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Average training hours by categories 2024 2023
RE R B 5 B F 9 E A —E-EF —T=-=
Average training hours per employee ™7 FGZ g 8 FiGEEFI|/ N Wi 2.50 0.93
Average training hours by gender "ote 2 IR B 215 B B2 BN R (it2)
- Male -5 2.83 0.94
- Female - 2.17 0.92
Average training hours by employee HEEMERBE DB TEHEE
Category (Note 2) /J\E% (Ktzt2)
- Management -EEE 3.33 3.1
— Other employees -EMES 2.00 -
Note 1:  Average training hours per employee is calculated by Wizt EEER -‘Ffi?f:'zji///‘//\ﬁ%]}ffl‘fzjﬁ///%?
dividing the total number of training hours by the number IR R ABGHE
of employees.
Note 2: Average training hours by categories is calculated HreE2 - IR R &) 7 1) F 15 5 ) B T H

by dividing the total number of training hours for
specified category by the number of employees in the
corresponding category.
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LABOUR STANDARDS
Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group guarantees that no employee will be made to work
against his/her will or be coerced to work. The recruitment of
child labour is strictly prohibited. All employees recruited by the
Group are above 18 years old. Personal data is collected and
original supporting documents are required to be presented
during the process to assist the selection of suitable candidates
and to verify the candidates’ personal data. The Human
Resources Department ensures that their identity documents
are carefully checked and periodically reviews the Group's
employment practices to avoid child labour and forced labour.
Moreover, to prevent non-compliance with labour standards,
overtime working is on a voluntary basis, which provides an
effective protection of their interests. Any violations of the
labour standards of respective jurisdictions will be investigated,
remedied and reported to the government authorities
promptly. Further, the Group shall immediately terminate the
employment contract and impose due punishment on the
erring employee. The issue will immediately be dealt with in
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with child and forced labour-related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the Group,
including but not limited to the Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Regarding the wine procurement process, the Group focuses
primarily on the selection of high-quality wines from different
wine regions, varieties and styles in order to meet the diverse
preference of the customers. Therefore, procuring fine wines
under an overly rigid procurement process policy will not be
desirable. During the Year, wine suppliers were predominately
from famous wine regions.
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The number of major suppliers by geographic region during
the Year is as follows:

BRI HERELSERE

MAFERWEREE DN T EHEHH
ERCRNE

Geographical region 2024 2023
s & —E-WE —F_=
Hong Kong 5 59 36
The PRC ] 23 19
France =B 22 16
Australia BN -

United Kingdom T 2 3
Switzerland Tt - -
Others Hi 1 -

Procurement Process

For procurement of goods and services other than the
aforementioned, the Group strives to consider suppliers’
reputation, prevailing market price and delivery time. At the
same time, the purchase of supplies is determined and adjusted
by the current inventories, expected customer demands and
projected sales trends. Where possible, the Group strives not to
over-rely on a particular supplier by maintaining more than one
supplier for each type of goods or services provided in order to
ensure the stability of the supply chain. The Group periodically
evaluates and monitors the performance of its suppliers to
ensure their compliance with quality and service standards.
Should services provided by the supplier fall below the agreed
standard, the cooperation may be terminated. During the Year,
the aforementioned supplier engagement practices have been
imposed on all suppliers.
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Managing Environmental and Social Risks of the
Supply Chain

The Group recognises that its operations are highly dependent
on a responsible and sustainable supply chain and therefore
has put considerable effort into safeguarding its values
along the supply chain to protect its principles of ethics and
legality. Relevant policies and measures are established in
the Group’s Labour Standards and Supplier Code of Conduct
and the Environmental Policy to monitor the quality of the
Group’s suppliers as well as their environmental and ethical
performance. To reduce its social and environmental risks
along the supply chain, the Group periodically evaluates
and monitors the performance of its suppliers to ensure
their compliance with laws and regulations relating to
environmental and social policies, service standards, contract
conditions and quality provisions. Any non-compliance to
relevant environmental and social laws and regulations
discovered by the designated personnel from the Group during
the assessment will be promptly reported to the management.
Corrective action plan will be carried out to remediate the
identified risk in a timely manner.

In addition, the Group pays close attention to the
environmental awareness of its suppliers and activity
promotes environmentally-preferable products and services
when selecting supplier. The Group encourages its business
partners and suppliers to consider the risks posed to their
operations from climate change and to actively mitigate their
environmental impacts. It also reiterates to its business partners
and suppliers the value brought to business in terms of more
efficient resource consumption and monitoring of wastage
during business meetings and discussion with suppliers.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group has an extensive quality assurance process to
ensure that the products and services provided are not only in
compliance with relevant local laws and regulations but are
also of exceptional quality.

Wine's Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

EEMHEENRER SRR

AEBFAANELESEKBERARTIIAR
BrftEE  Fitt NEEEHERES IS
HiEEEEEE  UWREHLBRELEZER
- AEEEES TR MEREITRT
A A B 3RS B AP 1 S AR R BOR M Fa e
NEEAEEHREEOE KU REFNR
BERBRRE - BREHER EOLER
RERAR  AEEEHAGERETEHRERS
MERE - UEREETEBARREIEER
R REERE - ANARERERERE
BNER - AEBEETEAB K HBEF
IR T2 AR IR IR At @A R SOEMR
MIER  BEREMERERS - XEEK
E e # EFE et &) A R A IE 2 3R B9

(G o
S

goN s REBEZ Y EHEHNRRE
o WREKEHERRRES ARRE
an KRS - REB SRV E XHEH KA E
BERRGRECHESETRORR AR
BHRREEREYE RNHEERHXEH
KEtam s - AEBINAEEBHEH LR
BHEFREEARERBRMEERENE
REBHRNER -

EmEE
AEBHARZNRERERF - UHER
FriRttEm MR NMER & B R EER
REH EREEM -



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Quality Control

Quality management is emphasised by the Group as the quality
of alcoholic beverages is easily affected by external factors
such as the storage environment. Implementing a sound quality
control is therefore fundamental to ensuring the quality and
safety of the goods and services provided to the customers.
The Group has standardised guidelines and procedures on the
storage, delivery and packaging of products. With regard to
the storage requirements, different sets of air conditioning are
strategically switched on using the timer function to ensure
that the desired temperature and humidity is maintained for
optimal wine storage performance. In addition, a back-up
power system at the warehouse will automatically be switched
on in the event of a power failure. To maintain the quality of
services provided, strict requirements have been imposed on
the storage environment of the Group’s warehouse and retail
store.

According to the Group’s Return Application Guide, product
return is available in case of any quality issues verified by the
Group upon presenting the proof of purchase. Upon receiving
the customer’s return request, the management Group will
verify the reason for the return and obtain relevant proof.
Products will be recalled and remediations will be taken in
a timely fashion if any issues are found related to product
quality or food safety. Analysis on the product recall incident
will also be carried out to prevent the incident recurrence and
implement corrective actions where necessary in continual
improvement on the quality assurance practices. During the
Year, the Group did not record any material recalls of products
sold or shipped subjects to safety and health reasons.

Customer Satisfaction

Feedbacks and complaints from the Group's customers are
highly valued as it is of vital importance to the continuous
development of the Group. Procedures for handling feedbacks
have been set up. Should the Group receive any complaints,
the Group will strive to act in a timely manner to resolve the
issue with effective corrective actions. In addition, complaints
of significant weight received will be discussed and reviewed
by the management during regular meetings to prevent
reoccurrence. During the Year, the Group did not record any
product or service-related complaints.
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Data Privacy Protection

The Group is committed to safeguarding all sensitive
information pertaining to its customers. Unauthorised access
to the Group's information system and disclosure of terms
of business with customers and suppliers, marketing plans
and sales forecasts or any proposals relating to the Group
are strictly prohibited. Moreover, employees of the Group are
required to sign the Employee Non-disclosure Agreement and
are held accountable to the consequences of disseminating
confidential information of the customers without prior
consent.

Advertising and Labelling

The Group recognises the gravity of improper dissemination
of information on alcoholic products and the consequences
of providing alcohol to minors. Therefore, the Group is aware
of the importance of accuracy of its promotional material.
Promotional banners and leaflets produced for such activities
were subjected to strict compliance with the Trade Description
Ordinance. Any false, misleading or incomplete information
and misstatements regarding such materials are strictly
prohibited.

Furthermore, following the enforcement of the Dutiable
Commodities (Amendment) Ordinance 2018 on 30 November
2018, the Group’s retail stores are required to display a sign
containing both Chinese and English versions of the prescribed
notice in a prominent location easily seen by the public.
Therefore, the Group remains vigilant to prevent the sale and
supply of intoxicating liquor to minors and the veracity of its
marketing materials.

On the other hand, the Group considers that labelling matters
is not material to the Group.

Intellectual Property (“IP") Rights

The Group actively monitors the overall use, registration and
management of intangible IP rights and put in place anti-
counterfeiting measures. The Group has obtained registration
of the Group’s trademarks in Hong Kong. The domain name
was also registered. In addition, the Group strictly prohibits
employees to install any unauthorised and illegal computer
and application software to ensure that IP rights are observed
and protected.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with laws and regulations concerning health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services and methods of redress that would have
a significant impact on the Group, including but not limited to
the Dutiable Commodities (Amendment) Ordinance 2018 and
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

Solid corporate governance is vital to the Group’s sustainable
growth. The Group emphatically asserts its zero-tolerance
stance regarding any behaviours that not only violate laws
and regulations of Hong Kong but also severely damage the
business integrity and reputation of the Group.

Anti-bribery and Anti-Corruption Practices

The Group has established the Anti-bribery and Corruption
Policy in relation to accepting business courtesies and
gratuities. The said policy outlines the standards of behaviours
for employees regarding business ethics, anti-corruption and
anti-bribery, conflict of interests and data confidentiality to
ensure that the Group’s businesses and operations are of
high ethical standard. The said policy has also clearly stated
the circumstances in which the employee may accept said
courtesies and gratuities and is required to declare such
courtesies and gratuities to the Head of Department. Bribery,
fraud and corruption in any form or in relation to any parties
are all strictly prohibited in the Group.

The Group endeavours to maintain a culture of integrity,
transparency and accountability by adhering to stringent anti-
corruption practices. To prevent corrupt practices during its
business operation, directors and employees are required to
undergo anti-corruption training to familiarise themselves
with the current legislations, the identification of and correct
procedures to report corrupt practices. During the Year,
the directors and employees have received a total of 60
training hours including the topics of anti-corruption-related
legislations, corporate integrity governance and ethics.
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Whistle-blowing Mechanism

A whistle-blowing mechanism is in place for the employees
and external stakeholders to report any kinds of malpractices
and suspected misconduct through our reporting channels,
including telephone, e-mail, and letter at any time. The
Group protects the identity of whistle-blower and keeps the
reported information confidential. Internal investigation will be
undergone to verify the reported cases and remedial actions
will be taken where necessary based on the result findings of
the investigation.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations of bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering that would have a
significant impact on the Group, including but not limited to
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong. During the
Year, there were no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group’s people-oriented culture is not confined within
the Group's operation. The Group has long been caring for
local communities and has policies on addressing social and
community needs via community investment.

Going forward, the Group will expand its efforts in charity
work to cater to the needs of its community as well as to
create a more favourable environment for its community and
business by focusing on contributing to social welfare, health
and culture.

The Group continues to be awarded the Caring Company Logo
under the Caring Company Award by The Hong Kong Council
of Social Service for the seventh consecutive year. These
recognitions exemplified the Group's effort and dedication in
adopting socially responsible business practices. The Group
plans to contribute more to the society through taking a more
active participation role in community programmes, which not
only benefits the society but also nurtures a good corporate
culture.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

Throughout the Year, the Group has demonstrated active
participation in a wide range of charity events. Notably, the
Group proudly sponsored the Hong Kong New Youth Energy
Think Tank Charitable Foundation Limited. This foundation
plays a crucial role in bringing together enthusiastic young
people from various industries and sectors, fostering
collaboration, and providing valuable advice to promote youth
work in Hong Kong.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESHE

The Board is pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The major
operating subsidiary of the Company primarily engages in the
wholesale and retail of a wide spectrum of wine products and
other alcoholic beverages in Hong Kong.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Details of the audited consolidated results of the Group for the
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income on pages 109 to 110 of this
annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the Year (2023: Nil) to the shareholders.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

A notice convening the annual general meeting of the
Company (the "AGM") will be published as soon as practicable
in accordance with the Articles and the GEM Listing Rules.
The record date and closure of books for the purpose of
ascertaining the Shareholder’s entitlement to attend and vote
at the AGM will be announced in due course.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during
the Year, the key factors affecting its results and financial
position, and the information on the compliance with laws
and regulations, environmental policy and relationships with
stakeholders are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Furthermore, a
fair review of, and an indication of likely future development
in the Group’s business are set out in the section headed
“Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, since the end of the Year, no
important event affecting the Group has occurred.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operation, business
and prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group relating to its businesses:

—  The Group experiences cash flow mismatches in the
business operation. Delay in the settlement of payments
by the customers may result in untimely and significant
cash flow shortcomings in the future and may adversely
impact the Group’s cash position and results of
operations.

—  The Group has substantial indebtedness and high gearing
ratios.

—  The Group recorded a net operating cash inflow for
the Year but may have difficulty meeting the payment
obligations if the Group records net operating cash
outflow in the future.

—  The Group recorded a relatively high inventory turnover
days and is exposed to the risk of slow-moving
inventories, which may adversely affect the cash flow and
liquidity.

- Any increase in the purchase prices of wine products that
the Group cannot pass on to customers may reduce its
profitability.

—  Changes in market trends and customer tastes and
preferences could cause the sales to decline.

- Opening of new flagship store and retail store in Hong
Kong may not contribute to the growth of the Group’s
business as planned.

—  The business, results of operations and financial condition
may be affected by seasonality.

—  The acquisition and set up of the own warehousing
facility may result in an increase in the depreciation
expenses of the Group.

-  Any quality issues relating to the Group’s wine products
could adversely affect the reputation and business.
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The Group does not have product liability insurance
and may not be adequately protected from any product
liability claim and/or potential loss.

The Group has a relatively short track record in retail
business and the historical financial results in respect of
the retail business may not be indicative of the future
performance.

The Group may be subject to tax penalties and additional
tax liabilities.

Any deterioration or termination of the relationships with
the major suppliers may result in severe disruptions to the
operations and loss of revenue.

Any deterioration or termination of the relationships
with the major customers may materially and adversely
affect the business, results of operations and financial
condition.

The Group’s operations are subject to certain risks
associated with the transportation processes and storage
conditions of the wine products.

The Group has limited insurance coverage which could
expose the Group to significant costs and business
disruptions.

The continuing success of the Group depends on the
senior management and the abilities to retain, motivate
and recruit appropriately skilled talents.

The series of anti-corruption campaigns and reforms
launched by the PRC government may adversely affect
the sales of the wine products.

If the PRC government tightens its customs controls over
wine products, demand from customers who purchase
the Group's wine products for consumption in or resale
to the PRC may decrease.

The Group's lease renewals are affected by conditions of
the rental market.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

—  The Group’s results of operations may be affected by
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

—  The Group may be unable to maintain rapid growth and
implement the future plans.

For other risks and uncertainties that the Group faces, please
refer to the section headed “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus.
For the Group’s approach on risk management and internal
controls, please refer to page 41 of this annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 188 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details (including the principal activities) of the Company’s
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 are set out in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of
the Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

No charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the Year (2023: Nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s distributable reserves
available for distribution is approximately HK$37.6 million
(2023: HK$39.0 million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders unless otherwise
required by the Stock Exchange.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND EQUITY-LINKED
AGREEMENT

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements. Please also refer to “Capital Structure”
in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section of this
annual report.

On the Listing Date, upon listing on the Stock Exchange, the
Company has issued 120,000,000 shares at HK$0.75 each
with net proceeds of approximately HK$64.2 million.

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed
in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” below,
no equity-linked agreement that (i) will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or (ii) requires the Company enter into
any agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares, was entered into by the Company during the Year or
subsisted at the end of the reporting year.

Dividend Policy

The Board has adopted a dividend policy pursuant to which
the Company will maintain a stable dividend payout ratio in
future and strive to attain a stable-to-rising dividend ratio. The
Company gives priority to distributing dividend in cash and
shares its profits with the Shareholders. The dividend payout
ratio shall be determined or recommended as appropriate, by
the Board at its absolute discretion after taking into account
the Company’s financial position, its ability to generate cash
flow, its future development needs and prospects, and subject
to:

- the Articles;

—  the applicable restrictions and requirements under the
laws of the Cayman Islands;

- any banking or after funding covenants by which the
Company is bound from time to time;

— the investment and operation requirement of the
Company; and

- any other factors that have material impact on the
Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS

During the Year and thereafter up to the date of this annual
report, the Directors are named as follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. Shirley Wong
Mr. Chan Sze Tung

Non-executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chi Hung s.8.S., B.B.S., J.P

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie M.H., J.p

Mr. Chan Cham Man Simon

Mr. Liu Kin Wai

Pursuant to article 16.18 of the Articles, at every annual
general meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific team) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years.

Accordingly, Ms. Shirley Wong and Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie
will retire pursuant to article 16.18 of the Articles, and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the
forthcoming AGM.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual written confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules
to confirm that they remain independent during the Year and
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
Biographical details of the Directors and the senior

management of the Group are set out on pages 15 to 22 of
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract
with the Company on 18 December 2017 for an initial term
of three years, commencing from the Listing Date (subject
to termination in certain circumstances as stipulated in the
relevant service agreement) and their service contracts have
been renewed for three years commencing from 12 January
2024.

The non-executive Director has signed a letter of appointment
with the Company on 18 December 2017 for an initial term
of three years, commencing from the Listing Date (subject
to termination in certain circumstances as stipulated in the
relevant letter of appointment). The letter of appointment
with Ms. Yeung Chi Hung has been renewed for three years
commencing from 12 January 2024.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed
a letter of appointment with the Company. Ms. Chan Man Ki
Maggie has signed a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years from 13 June 2019 to 12 June
2022 and her letter of appointment has been renewed with
no specific term commencing from 13 June 2022. Mr. Chan
Cham Man Simon has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years from 1 December 2021
to 30 November 2024. Mr. Liu Kin Wai has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years from
1 March 2023 to 28 February 2026.

None of the Directors has or is proposed to have entered
into any service contract or letter of appointment with any
member of the Group (excluding contract or letter expiring
or determinable by any member of the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation)).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the business of the Group to which the Company,
or its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director or a connected entity of a Director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the Year or at any time during the Year, nor was
there any transaction, arrangements or contract of significance
for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) or any of its subsidiaries for the Year. There
was also no contract of significance between the Company or
one of the subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders or any
of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company or its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during
the Year.

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

The Directors are entitled to director fees, salaries,
discretionary bonus with reference to the market comparables,
time commitment and the performance of the Group as
well as the contributions to retirement schemes. Details of
the remuneration of the Directors on a named basis during
the Year are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company’s Directors and senior management receive
compensation in the form of director fees, salaries, benefits
in kind and/or discretionary bonuses with reference to those
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and the
performance of the Group. The Group also reimburses the
Directors and senior management for expenses which are
necessarily and reasonably incurred for the provision of
services to the Group or executing their functions in relation to
the operations of the Group. The Group regularly reviews and
determines the remuneration and compensation packages of
the Directors and senior management, by reference to, among
other things, market level of remuneration and compensation
paid by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities
of the Directors and the performance of the Group.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors shall be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities
incurred or sustained by him as a Director in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is
given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the
Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (ii) which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings
contained in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were
as follows:
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Interests in the Company RAEAB 2=
Percentage of
shareholding in the
Number of Company’s issued
Name of Director Nature of interests Shares held share capital
RERE
BRITREZ
EEfE EEME FRERGHE BRADL
Ms. Shirley Wong®? Interest of a controlled 280,000,000 (L) 70%

corporation
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Notes:
(1) The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2)  Ms. Shirley Wong is the sole shareholder of Shirz Limited and
she is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Shirz Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
Directors nor chief executive of the Company has registered
an interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(ii) which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to required standard of dealings.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company or any
specified undertaking of the Company or any other associated
corporations” above, at no time during the Year were any
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
the chief executive of the Company or any of their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other
body corporate.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF

THE SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF

THE COMPANY AND OTHER PERSONS IN

THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
SPECIFIED UNDERTAKING OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 March 2024, the
following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company) will have or be deemed or taken to have an interest
or short position in the Shares or the underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or which would be recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Percentage of
shareholding in the

Number of Company’s issued
Name of shareholder Nature of interests Shares held share capital
RAARERT
RREMH EEME FrERO#E REzBREDL
Shirz Limited®? Beneficial owner 280,000,000 (L)™ 70%
BREAA
Notes: Wt -

(1) The letter “L"” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2)  Ms. Shirley Wong is the sole shareholder of Shirz Limited and
she is therefore deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
Shirz Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons who had any interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or which would be recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO, and/or who are directly or
indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances
at general meetings of any other member of the Group.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the interests disclosed above in respect of the
substantial shareholders, as at 31 March 2024, no other
person is individually or collectively entitled to exercise or
control the exercise of 5% or more of the voting power at
the general meetings of the Company and are able, as a
practicable manner, to direct or influence the management of
the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales for the Year generated from the
Group’s major customers is as follows:

—  the largest customer 7.8%

—  five largest customers 34.2%
The percentage of cost of sales for the Year attributable to the
Group’s major suppliers is as follows:

—  the largest supplier 12.8%

—  five largest suppliers 43.0%
None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) or any shareholder (which to the knowledge
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had any beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers or its five largest suppliers for the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
(including the sale of treasury shares (as defined under the
GEM Listing Rules)) during the Year.
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DIRECTOR’S SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Director’s securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules. Having been made a specific enquiry
of the Directors by the Company, all Directors confirmed that
they had complied with the required standard of dealings and
code of conduct regarding securities transactions throughout
the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, none
of the Directors or the controlling shareholders or substantial
shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of the
Company or their respective close associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) were considered to have any interests
in a business which competed or was likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
and/or caused, or was likely to cause any other conflicts of
interest with the Group.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The Company confirms that the deed of non-competition (the
"Deed”) of each of Ms. Shirley Wong, Mr. Roy Ting and Shirz
Limited (collectively, the “Obligors”), details of which were set
out in the Prospectus, has been fully complied and enforced
during the Year. The Company has obtained an annual written
confirmation from each of the Obligors in relation to their
compliance with the terms of the Deed and the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the undertakings under
the Deed and evaluated the effective implementation of the
Deed during the Year. With effect from 27 November 2023,
by reason that Mr. Roy Ting together with his close associates,
whether individually or taken together, ceased to be interested
in 30% of the entire issued share capital of the Company, he
was not bound by the undertakings in the Deed. The Board
also confirms that there are no other material matters in
relation to the aforesaid undertaking which should be brought
to the attention of the shareholders and the potential investors
of the Group.
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LOAN AGREEMENTS WITH COVENANT
RELATING TO SPECIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

On 11 August 2023, Wine's Link Limited (“Wine’s Link"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as borrower and
the Company, as guarantor, accepted a banking facility letter
issued by Chong Hing Bank Limited (“Lender A") (“Facility
Letter A”) which is to renew the banking facilities granted by
the Lender A on 4 July 2022. This Facility Letter A comprises
(i) facilities in the aggregate amount up to HK$63,000,000,
consisting of (a) a new 3-year term loan; (b) an existing
term loan maturing on 1 March 2024; and (c) other trade
facilities; and (ii) an overdraft facility in the amount up to
HK$3,000,000, which are agreed to be made available by
the Lender A to Wine’s Link on the terms and conditions
contained therein and subject to, among others, review by
the Lender A from time to time and the Lender A's overriding
right of repayment on demand. Pursuant to Facility Letter A,
the Company shall procure Ms. Shirley Wong and Mr. Roy
Ting, the controlling shareholders of the Company, continue
to be the single largest shareholder and jointly hold not less
than 50% beneficial interest of the Company. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 11 August 2023 for
more details.

The amounts of the trade facilities of the Facility Letter A have
been updated (the “Updated Facility Letter”) with an increase
of HK$7,000,000. The Updated Facility Letter comprises (i)
facilities in the aggregate amount up to HK$70,000,000,
consisting of (a) a 3-year term loan; (b) a term loan maturing
on 1 March 2024; and (c) other trade facilities; and (ii) an
overdraft facility in the amount up to HK$3,000,000, which
are agreed to be made available by the Lender A to Wine’s Link
on the terms and conditions contained therein and subject to,
among others, review by the Lender A from time to time and
the Lender’s A overriding right of repayment on demand. The
aforesaid updated amounts of the trade facilities shall remain
valid for 3 months until 3 May 2024. Save as the aforesaid
update in the Updated Facility Letter, other terms of the Facility
Letter A shall remain unchanged and continue in full force
and effect. Please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 16 February 2024 for more details.
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On 3 May 2024, Wine's Link, as borrower and the Company, as
guarantor, accepted a new banking facility letter issued by the
Lender A which is to renew the Facility Letter A granted by the
Lender A. For details, please refer to the section headed “Event
after the reporting period” in “Report of the directors”.

On 31 October 2023, Wine's Link, as borrower and the
Company, as guarantor, accepted banking facility letters
issued by Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited (“Lender B")
("Facility Letters B”). The Facility Letters B comprise (i) trade
and revolving loan facilities in the aggregate amount up to
HK$18,000,000 (the “Trade and Revolving Loan”); and (ii)
an existing term loan maturing on 26 November 2023 and a
corporate credit card of up to HK$3,661,000 and HK$200,000
respectively, which are agreed to be made available by the
Lender B to Wine's Link on the terms and conditions contained
therein and subject to, among others, review by the Lender
B from time to time and the Lender B’s overriding right of
repayment on demand. Pursuant to the Facility Letters B, the
Company shall procure Ms. Shirley Wong and Mr. Roy Ting, the
controlling shareholders of the Company, continue to be the
single largest shareholder and jointly hold not less than 50%
beneficial interest of the Company. Also, regarding the Trade
and Revolving Loan, Ms. Shirley Wong shall provide a personal
guarantee for an amount of not less than HK$18,000,000.
Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 31
October 2023 for more details.

As at the date of this report, Ms. Shirley Wong holds 70%
interest in the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme"”) conditionally
approved and adopted in compliance with Chapter 23 of the
GEM Listing Rules by written resolutions of all the Shareholder
passed on 18 December 2017. The following summary does
not form, nor is intended to be, part of the Share Option
Scheme nor should it be taken as affecting the interpretation
of the rules of the Share Option Scheme.

(a)

(b)

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant options to subscribe for Shares
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme (“Share Options”)
to the eligible persons as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group
to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group or any
entity in which any member of the Group holds any
equity interest (the “Invested Entity”).

Participants

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer eligible
persons (being any director or employee (whether full
time or part time), consultant or adviser of the Group
who in the sole discretion of the Board has contributed
to and/or will contribute to the Group) (the “Eligible
Persons”) to subscribe for such number of Shares in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.
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(c) Total number of Shares available for issue

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
Share Options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company, must not,
in aggregate, exceed 10% of the total number of
Shares in issue from time to time.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of
which options may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes involving the issue or grant of options or
similar rights over Shares or other securities by the
Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the
Listing Date (without taking into account the Shares
which may be issued and allotted pursuant to the
exercise of the options which may be granted under
the Share Option Scheme) (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”) unless Shareholders’ approval has been
obtained pursuant to sub-paragraph (iv) below.

The Scheme Mandate Limit may be renewed by the
Shareholders of the Company in general meeting
from time to time provided always that the Scheme
Mandate Limit so renewed must not exceed 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of the approval of such renewal by the
shareholders of the Company in general meeting.
Upon such renewal, all Share Options granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share options schemes of the Company (including
those exercised, outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in
accordance with the Share Option Scheme or any
other share options of the Company) prior to the
approval of such renewal shall not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate
Limit. A circular must be sent to the Shareholders of
the Company containing such relevant information
from time to time as required by the GEM Listing
Rules.
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(iv) The Board may seek separate Shareholders’ approval
in general meeting to grant options beyond the
Scheme Mandate Limit provided that the Share
Options in excess of the Scheme Mandate Limit
are granted only to the Eligible Persons specifically
identified by the Company before such approval is
sought and the Company must issue a circular to
the Shareholders of the Company containing such
relevant information from time to time as required
by the GEM Listing Rules in relation to any such
proposed grant to such Eligible Persons.

The total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme was 40,000,000, representing 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
annual report. As at 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024, the
total number of Share Options available for grant under the
Share Option Scheme was 40,000,000.

(d) Maximum entitlement of each participant

(e)

(f)

No Share Option may be granted to any Eligible Person
which, if exercised in full, would result in the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options already granted or to be granted to such
Eligible Person under the Share Option Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) in
the twelve-month period up to and including the date of
such new grant exceeding 1% in aggregate of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of such
grant. Any grant of further share options above this limit
shall be subject to certain requirements provided under
the GEM Listing Rules.

The minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised

As determined by the Board upon the grant of an option.

Acceptance of option

An offer shall be accepted when the Company receives
the duly signed offer letter together with a non-
refundable payment of HK$1.00 (or such other sum in
any currency as the Board may determine).
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(g) Period of exercising the option (9) BRRREITERE

() Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Share () EBRAREREEIFFENE TR
Option Scheme, a Share Option may be exercised il - AR E A R AR AR (BT
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option AR IERES B R T 5)
Scheme and the terms of grant thereof at any I8 PR AR 28 I R B B0 ) iR R I 3%
time during the applicable option period, which is ) FES R E E) AR RA T BB AR o
not more than ten years from the date of grant of
option.

(i) There is no general requirement on the minimum (i) RIEBEIRETZINIER  TER
period for which a Share Option must be held or FRBERER] TITRA AR AR
the performance targets which must be achieved Ay e BAfE sk B EA R IR B
before a Share Option can be exercised under the B2 —MIRE - A EFgA
terms of the Share Option Scheme. However, at the R E B RERIRERNE RSB
time of granting any Share Option, the Board may, B BRI PREISAR PR
on a case by case basis, make such grant subject to BREETRREEZGAEZER
such conditions, restrictions or limitations including SETAFEBIREREIER
(without limitation) those in relation to the S RBEBHRIBEE -

minimum period of the Share Options to be held
and/or the performance targets to be achieved as
the Board may determine in its absolute discretion.

(h) Exercise Price (h) 1TfEE
The exercise price for any Share under the Share Option RERR ST 2118 TEMIR D AT E
Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board and HEZEETRBASERA  HZ
notified to each grantee and shall be not less than the BRAMFIERUATEENESE ()
highest of (i) the closing price of a Share as stated in the RELEEBRERD (ZAKER
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of BHER) ABXEAREBRAMA
grant of the relevant option, which must be a business U TE @ (NVEEREERTEHE
day, (ii) an amount equivalent to the average closing BRERHAIAESEREBIME
price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily HmEXRMAHKRO FHKRMEZE
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately 88 1% (i) R R B AR EE -
preceding the date of grant of the relevant option and (iii)
the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.

(i) Life of the Share Option Scheme (i) EBRHESTEIHR
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a BT B B RERME AREH 51
period of ten years commencing on the date on which RABR °
the Share Option Scheme is adopted.
No share options were granted since the adoption of the B AR B ER AN e - WA R
Share Option Scheme and there are no outstanding share IR - MARAFER - BEEARITE

options at the end of the Year. 2 REIRAE o
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an Audit Committee on 18 December
2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule
5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and code provision D.3.3 of
the CG Code. The audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the Year have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee, which was of the opinion that the preparation
of such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards, the GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements, and
adequate disclosures have been made.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group during
the Year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report. None of these related party
transactions constituted a connected transaction as defined
under the GEM Listing Rules for the Year.

During the Year, the Company has no non-exempt connected
transactions which are subject to the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

From the information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital are held by the public at
all times throughout the period from the Listing Date to the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Shares.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to implementing good corporate
governance practices. Information on the principal corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 23 to 45 of this
annual report.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 3 May 2024, Wine's Link, as borrower and the Company, as
guarantor, accepted a new banking facility letter issued by the
Lender A (the “Renewed Facility Letter A”) which is to renew
the Facility Letter A granted by the Lender A. The Renewed
Facility Letter A comprises (i) facilities in the aggregate amount
up to HK$73,000,000, consisting of (a) a 3-year term loan
and (b) other trade and loan facilities; and (ii) an overdraft
facility in the amount up to HK$3,000,000, which are agreed
to be made available by the Lender A to Wine’s Link on the
terms and conditions contained therein and subject to, among
others, review by the Lender A from time to time and the
Lender A’'s overriding right of repayment on demand.

Pursuant to the Renewed Facility Letter A, the Company
shall, inter alia, procure that Ms. Shirley Wong, a controlling
shareholder of the Company, continue to be the single largest
shareholder and hold not less than 50% beneficial interest in
the Company.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 3
May 2024 for more details.

As at the date of this report, Ms. Shirley Wong holds 70%
interest in the Company.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu has resigned as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 5 July 2021. ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited was then appointed as the independent auditor
of the Company to fill the casual vacancy following the said
resignation.
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The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, who will retire and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. The Board
has taken the Audit Committee's recommendation that a
resolution for their re-appointment as independent auditor of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

Save as disclosed above, there have been no other changes of
independent auditor during the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Chi Lou Shirley
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

VR S

)y

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF WINE'S LINK INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Wine's Link International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 109 to 187, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

BB S

HRETEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FARETFEESRBERMOBEHE - R
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the  AHANHGEVBERENBITRAEEN
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These — FIE c ELFIEEE R M B BEEGEEY
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the  BHEREEERFKETERIEN - JMT
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming SYELEFREHEBOHER -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matter

BRETSEE

Valuation of inventories

FRIGE

We identified the valuation of inventories as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance
to the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
combined with the significant degree of judgements
by management of the Group associated with
identifying slow-moving inventories based on the
ageing analysis and determining the net realisable
values which are based on the current market
condition and recent selling price of inventories.

BB EERERBARETSFIE  DREEAHRER
MEHGAVBREABESR WS EXEERE
e 2 BARHE - HEERREBFFHFENUR
BRIEERMRAIIRFEEEE T ZE FERHA -

Net realisable value is the estimated selling prices
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
selling expenses. These estimates are based on
the current market condition and the historical
experience of selling products of similar nature.
Management of the Group will reassess the
estimations on a product-by-product basis at the
end of the reporting period and write down for
obsolete inventories will be made when necessary.
As disclosed in notes 4 and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying amount of
inventories as at 31 March 2024 amounted to
HK$152,822,000.

AR HRER—REKBREPEAEERMEFTLE
X - ZE At DERRETRARBUTLEHE
EmBELR - EEEETEEHNREHRERE
HEmMBFAEZELS  TRUEFKERER
EVEHMOR o MINGEA IR T4 RIS HEE -
HE_Z-_NF=A=+—H0 GBENKREEZED
152,822,000 7T °

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEANFTNAHEREASRETREE

Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of
inventories included:

BRFENGE RANEREFOT

J understanding the management’s process in
determining the net realisable values of the
inventories;

THREREBEEFENAERFENERF

J assessing the reasonableness of the net realisable
value of inventories with reference to the recent
selling prices or public quoted prices of the wine
products, on a sample basis; and
2EHEBEMNSOEENARME - AHEK
HAFHEFEREEFENSIENE &

J checking subsequent sales of inventories, on a
sample basis.
MEHERFEHE -

BEEXEBEZERERLAR —T-NFEFR

105



106

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

VR S

Key audit matter

HREITSE

Valuation of deposits paid to suppliers

IR ER S T2 K B4 18

We identified the valuation of deposits paid
to suppliers as a key audit matter due to the
involvement of management’s judgement in
assessing its recoverability.

B MEEEX N2 ReNHMEERBRETS
1B AREIEEBRFT G E AT M O A -

As disclosed in notes 4 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements, deposits were paid to suppliers
to purchase wine’s products with reference to
business plan and relevant market condition.
BT E M ERERMTARNTIAEE - eI
THEBURBEIEEER  REL2EXKTE
NN ©

The Group carried out the review on deposits paid
to suppliers at the end of the reporting period and
assessed the recoverability of the deposits paid to
suppliers based on subsequent utilisation of the
deposits paid to suppliers and recent selling prices
or public quoted prices of the wine products.
EREE RN NBEARGNHERNZRS - AR
BREEADARHEIXN 2R REEBERND
HEEXLFARENERAEER N 2SRRI
Bl o

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of
deposits paid to suppliers was HK$86,626,000.
RZZBEZME=A=+—0  MEEEZN &S
#)BREI1E /& 86,626,000 87T ©

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNFTNAHBREASRETER

Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of
deposits paid to suppliers included:

HPFHEREER N 2 RENAENETEF B

o understanding the Group’s key controls over the
assessment of the valuation of the deposits paid
to suppliers;

B SEEEAEFEAHER N ZRSH A
(1 14 B A B 2 478 L4

o confirming the carrying amounts of deposits paid
to suppliers by confirmations, on a sample basis;
FRERMABMEEERERAHRER N 2EE
Z ARHEE

e checking the subsequent utilisation of the
deposits paid to suppliers, on a sample basis,
to the good received notes after the reporting
period; and
BEREHRNCUEERMEE MHEERX
MR WEBERER 0 &

o assessing the reasonableness of the recoverability
of the deposits paid to suppliers with reference
to the supporting documents on expected
delivery time of the wine products and recent
selling prices or public quoted prices of the wine
products, on a sample basis.

S2E 5 B #) BB oo T8 H A B Y R i R
BERERrIHEEHARME  UIHEREE
FHEEIAEEE S N REN B -
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/
Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Tse Kit Yan

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P08158

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeRRRAMZEAKSER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE

For the year ended 31 March

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BE=A=1+—HLEFE
—ENE —E-=F
Bzt FET FET
Revenue W= 5 216,553 147,727
Cost of sales THERM AR (139,800) (87,999)
Gross profit EH 76,753 59,728
Other income E g A 6 127 915
Other gains and losses, net Emh iz N e F 5 6 (956) 34
Reversal of impairment loss under 2 S REWGIETEEREE
expected credit loss model on RRIE TR EBERD
trade receivables 33 651
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (10,872) (12,445)
Administrative expenses THAX (16,434) (21,723)
Finance costs & R R 7 (9.294) (5,789)
Profit before taxation BT AT 7 9 39,357 21,371
Income tax expense TSR 2 10 (8,198) (5,036)
Profit for the year 55 ) 31,159 16,335
Profit (loss) for the year AT A - FE 4k A 1R 4 )
attributable to: (E518) :
— Owners of the Company . VNGIE 2N 31,201 16,599
— Non-controlling interests - eI (42) (264)
31,159 16,335
RS EXERERERAT —S_NFFH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GeRRRAMZEARRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-—ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE

For the year ended 31 March

2024 2023
Note HK$'000 HK$°000
BE=A=t+—-HLFE
—E-NE —E-=F
Hiat FET BT
Other comprehensive income after tax: Hi{& B2 E U -
[tem that may be reclassified AREEF D IEE
to profit or loss: BamAyEE -
Exchange differences on translation — 1AE 155} 2782 4 1Y
of foreign operations [E 53 T 11 21
Other comprehensive income FREMEERE
for the year, net of tax R IA 1" 21
Total comprehensive income FREHE =BT
for the year 31,170 16,356
Total comprehensive income (expense) AT ATEEFAEE RS
for the year attributable to: (Fx) #2858
— Owners of the Company - VNEIE 2 =N 31,238 16,579
— Non-controlling interests - FEIE AR (68) (223)
31,170 16,356
Earnings per share BR2AF
— Basic and diluted (HK cent) - BEARREE GEN) 11 7.80 4.15
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HEEMEBER

As at 31 March 2024 R-Z_WF=HF=+—H

As at 31 March

2024 2023
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
R=BA=+—H
—E-E —E-=F
Bzt FET FET
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Property and equipment EYSE 13 147,117 129,073
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 14 1,102 3,763
Deferred tax assets RIERRIBEE E 24 325 1,140
Deposits and prepayments e LI FIA 17 494 20,548
149,038 154,524
Current assets REBEE
Inventories "E 15 152,822 138,765
Trade receivables B S REWGRE 16 52,304 44,804
Other receivables, deposits and Hn W RIE - Ze &k
prepayments TEfTFRIE 17 90,583 87,063
Amounts due from related RN B RS A B FIE
companies 18 491 454
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR NI S 79 2,889 5,754
299,089 276,840
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables 5N IE 20 3,602 6,610
Other payables and accrued charges ~ EfhfE B KL EER 271 3,047 3,155
Contract liabilities aHaE 22 7,626 10,276
Tax payable FEAT AR IR 4,586 2,787
Bank borrowings and bank BITERRIRITES
overdrafts 23 133,281 140,881
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 1,003 2,700
Provisions B 25 500 140
153,645 166,549
Net current assets RBEEFRE 145,444 110,291
Total assets less current liabilities #EEERABHERE 294,482 264,815

BEEXEBEZERERLAR —T-NFEFR

111



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEMEBER

As at 31 March 2024 R-Z_NMF=H=+—H

As at 31 March

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
R=A=+—H
“E-NF —E-=F
Hiat FET FET
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 8 1,011
Provisions B 25 - 500
8 1,511
Net assets BERE 294,474 263,304
Capital and reserves BXRK#E
Share capital IEN 26 4,000 4,000
Reserves 1t 291,834 260,596
Equity attributable to owners RATEE AEGERS
of the Company 295,834 264,596
Non-controlling interests SRR AE (1,360) (1,292)
Total equity R 294,474 263,304

The consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 187
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 21 June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Ms. Wong Chi Lou Shirley
ITERLZE
Director

EFE
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Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
SeEREDE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

“HFE=ZA=1T—HILFE

NG 1IN 3
Exchange Non-
Share Share  fluctuation Other Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
R ROEE EXRBRE EtEE  ZHEA i  FPRER s
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT AT AT AT AT
(Note)
W)
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZ5MA-H 4,000 76,298 - 27,458 140,261 248,017 (1,069) 246,948
Profit (loss) for the year gt (58) - - - - 16,599 16,599 (264) 16335
Other comprehensive (expense) EREM 2 (Fx)
income for the year: Wig
Frchange differences on BESNEBEEN
translation of foreign Eiz8
operations - - (20) - - (20) 41 2
Total comprehensive (expense) ERZE (%) hEhE
income for the year - - (20) - 16,599 16,579 (223) 16,356
At 31 March 2023 and \:E::ﬁ R=1-A
1 April 2023 “Z-ZF@A-A 4,000 76,298 (20) 27,458 156,860 264,59 (1,292) 263,304
Profit (loss) for the year Epigd| (B8) - - - - 31,201 31,201 (42) 31159
Other comprehensive income ~ EREM 2 AN E
(expense) for the year: (%) :
Exchange differences on RERNEBEEN
translation of foreign ESXEH
operations - - 37 - - 37 (26) 1
Total comprehensive income ~ FRZENE (R 4%
(expense) for the year - - 37 - 31,201 31,238 (68) 31,170
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME=F=+-8 4,000 76,298 17 27,458 188,061 295,834 (1,360) 294,474
Note: Other reserve represents the balance of HK$7,458,000 in Miet : BB EEE—E—R"F=A=1—

relation to the shareholder’s contribution in relation to derivative
financial instruments entered between Mr. Ting Chi Wai Roy
(“Mr. Roy Ting”) and the Group during the year ended 31
March 2016 and the effect of reorganisation of HK$20,000,000

during the year ended 31 March 2016.

BEEXEBREZERERLR

BUHFETEEEE ([TEBREE]) B
AEFUZOTESBMITEAELEZRE
& AR 487,458,000 7T A K &

E=

#5/%20,000,000 E T °

RNFE=ZR=+—RItFEzS

—E-mEER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HeBaRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-—ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE

Year ended 31 March
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$°000
BE=A=+—HLEFE
—E-NEF T =F

FET BT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEE
Profit before income tax Bk ET 1SRRI @ F 39,357 21,371
Adjustments for: M THRIEEL AR
Depreciation of property and equipment — #13 N R BT E 6,552 7,119
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEERE 2,661 3,374
Reversal of impairment loss under B S RUIBTRBEEEE
expected credit loss model on RAIE T 2 REREERE
trade receivables (33) (651)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property HEMERREN (W) BE
and equipment (295) 5
Loss on lease termination MEXRIEWEE - 52
Write-off of property and equipment 6L EYSE 224 -
Finance costs BE R AR 9,294 5,789
Bank interest income |ITHEHA (4) (4)
Operating cash flows before movements &EE&E B2 CERETE
in working capital 57.756 37,055
(Increase) decrease in inventories & (4gm) md (14,057) 18,040
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables B S ElETE () md (7.,467) 4,985
Increase in other receivables, deposits HMEUGIE « e MTE[KIE
and prepayments 0 (1,825) (44,437)
(Decrease) increase in trade payables B HRNMNIE Od) & (3,008) 5,064
Decrease in other payables and HAth N RIB R EFT B AR
accrued charges (108) (243)
Decrease in contract liabilities BHEERD (2,650) (697)
Decrease in provision BERL (140) —
Cash generated from operations LEBAFRE 28,501 19,767
Income tax paid ERFEH (5.584) (12,990)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING KL RS H & F 5
ACTIVITIES 22,917 6,777
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—Z

FaEBKRER

“HFE=ZA=1T—HILFE

Year ended 31 March

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BE=A=1+—HLEFE
—EF-NFE —T=F
FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KEEE
Bank interest received BUERTTFIE 4 4
Purchase of property and equipment BEYERRE (1,006) (26)
Proceeds from disposal of HEME KR EEHIE
property and equipment 295 38
Advances (to) from related companies (1A)) 2R B @RS A R B R (37) 14
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM WEEE (FTA) IR eF58
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (744) 30
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
New bank borrowings raised EERBITIERITIER 123,659 76,895
Interest paid on bank borrowings ERRITERRRITES A E
and bank overdrafts (9,147) (5,549)
Interest paid on lease liabilities ENEEEENE (147) (240)
Repayment of bank borrowings BEIFITEXK (133,751) (71,503)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEEAE (2,700) (3,583)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING BEEEARSFE
ACTIVITIES (22,086) (3,980)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRBSZEYILINFE
EQUIVALENTS 87 2,827
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FUBHeRBR2SEYD
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 2,791 (89)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [EREE)F 255
net 1 53
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND FRIBE MBS EHED
OF THE YEAR 2,889 2,791
Represented by: BHIATRE :
bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 2,889 5,754
bank overdrafts RITEL - (2,963)
2,889 2,791

BEEXEBREZERERLR
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Wine's Link International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and registered as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Act, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands
on 22 September 2016 and the shares of the Company
have been listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of
the Company’s registered office is at PO Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands,
and the principal place of business is in 26th Floor, AIA
Financial Centre, 712 Prince Edward Road East, San Po
Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Shirz Limited (“Shirz"”), a limited company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) which holds 70%
equity interests in the Company, is one of the controlling
shareholders of the Company and is wholly owned by
Ms. Wong Chi Lou Shirley (“Ms. Shirley Wong”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note
36. The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
principally engaged in trading of wine products and other
alcoholic beverages.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HK$") which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

Wine's Link International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SeMBRRE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-—ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FeMEERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new
and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") that are relevant to its
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 April 2023. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS"); and Interpretations. The adoption of
these new and revised HKFRSs did not result in significant
changes to the Group’s accounting policies, presentation
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements and
amounts reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRSs
that have been issued but are not yet effective. The
Group has already commenced an assessment of the
impact of these new and revised HKFRSs but is not yet in
a position to state whether these new and revised HKFRSs
would have a material impact on its results of operations
and financial position.

2.

EREEERMBREE
2l

RAFE  AEBEDRABB BT
firg((BESMAE])REMERE
EBERATE T _=FMA—Ai
SR FEERH B REERTR
BUMBHREER ([FBMBERSE
Al]) - BEMBREENBEETBY
&R ([BAMBHREEL]) -
FRgER ((FEg-£]) &
B - RNZ S REEBIERY
BmEERY EUAEREAREE NS
EFENSEER  AREHETH
BERNZ2I T AMAE2REAENE

7 5 [ 30 % 8 PR 2 AR AR 4B iR R AR AR
eI MBI B RY B mELER - K
SECFIRHER SR REERT R
B BmEEANTE - B ARHEE
ZEFR] MERT BB W E R
ERHERERBE MM BN RNEKRE

B/ 488
V-7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SeMBRRE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-—ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis and in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information
is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include the applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”) and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements are determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based payment”,
leasing transactions in accordance with HKFRS 16
“Leases”, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—Z

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

J Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The material accounting policies adopted are set out
below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

® isexposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

J has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SeMBRRE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-—ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—Z

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance
as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

The Group recognises revenue mainly from the sales
of wine products at point in time when the customer
obtains control of the wine products.

3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SeMBRRE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-—ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Lease
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
the date of initial application or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
standalone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component and are accounted for by applying other
applicable standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of properties that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FeMEERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Lease (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;

o any lease payment made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentive
received; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities other
than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from COVID-
19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied
the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon
exercising purchase options, the cost of the relevant
right-of-use assets and the related accumulated
depreciation and impairment loss are transferred to
property and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SeMBRRE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-—ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Lease (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9”) and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments represent fixed payments less any
lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of
use assets) whenever the lease term has changed in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—Z

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Lease (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease modlifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

J the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

The Group as a lessor
Operating leases

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees
all the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the term of relevant lease.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SeMBRRE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-—ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Property and equipment

Property and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property and equipment
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
items of property and equipment over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for a prospective basis.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FeMEERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment loss on property and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property and equipment and
right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SeMBRRE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-—ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment loss on property and equipment and
right-of-use assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent
basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based
on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FeMEERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment loss on property and equipment and
right-of-use assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All reqular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SeMBRRE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE-—ZT_UF=A=+—HIFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 #HE—Z

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Amortised cost and interest